COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT No. 44 (NORTH VANCOUVER) **AND CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES LOCAL 389** July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	I
RECOGNITION OF AGREEMENT	1
ARTICLE 1 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT	2
1.1 DURATION OF AGREEMENT	2 3
ARTICLE 2 - UNION RECOGNITION	3
2.1 Union Membership	3 4 4
ARTICLE 3 - HOURS OF WORK AND SHIFTS	5
3.1 HOURS OF WORK - MAINTENANCE AND JANITORIAL STAFF 3.2 START TIMES 3.3 SHIFTS 3.4 CHANGE OF SHIFT 3.5 SPECIAL SHIFTS 3.6 REPORTING FOR WORK AND FOUR HOUR MINIMUM WORK DAY 3.7 MEAL TIMES AND REST PERIODS 3.8 HOURS OF WORK - SUPPORT STAFF 3.9 LUNCH AND REST PERIODS - SUPPORT STAFF 3.10 NON – REGULAR HOURS OF WORK 3.11 SUMMER HOURS	5
ARTICLE 4 – CLASSIFICATION AND PAY	
4.1 CLASSIFICATION AND EVALUATION OF POSITIONS 4.2 DEFINITIONS OF EMPLOYEES 4.3 TRIAL PERIOD 4.4 ACTING RATES 4.5 RATES OF PAY 4.6 TRANSFERS AND PROMOTIONS 4.7 SHIFT PREMIUMS 4.8 CHARGE HAND PREMIUM 4.9 OVERTIME PAYMENTS 4.10 OVERTIME BANKING 4.11 CALL-OUTS AND STANDBY 4.12 MEAL BREAKS AND ALLOWANCES DURING OVERTIME AND CALL-OUTS	
4.13 FIRST AID ATTENDANTS/PREMIUM4.14 DRIVER DIFFERENTIAL	

4.15 Trades Premium	
4.16 TRADES SUPERVISOR PREMIUM	
4.17 TRANSFER OF CARE ALLOWANCE	
4.18 Casual Premium	
ARTICLE 5 – EMPLOYMENT	19
5.1 Posting Vacancies	19
5.2 SENIORITY RECOGNITION	
5.3 STAFFING REORGANIZATION, LAYOFF, BUMPING AND RECALL	
5.4 RIGHTS OF EMPLOYEES PROMOTED OUT OF THE BARGAINING UNIT	
5.5 EMPLOYEE RECORDS	
5.6 TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	
5.7 TERMINATION PAY	
5.8 VOLUNTEERS	
ARTICLE 6 - BENEFITS	33
6.1 Benefit Entitlements	33
6.2 ANNUAL VACATIONS	
6.3 SUPPLEMENTARY VACATIONS	
6.4 Statutory Holidays	
6.5 SICK LEAVE AND WORKSAFEBC	42
6.6 COMPASSIONATE LEAVE	
6.7 Jury Duty	
6.8 LEAVE (EDUCATION)	
6.9 MATERNITY AND PARENTAL LEAVE	
6.10 PATERNITY LEAVE	
6.11 ADOPTION LEAVE	
6.14 CITIZENSHIP LEAVE	
6.15 Leave of Absence for Public Office, Amateur Competitions, and Community Sei	
6.16 SAME SEX BENEFIT COVERAGE	
6.17 EXTENDED HEALTH CARE PLAN AND PROVINCIAL HEALTHCARE COVERAGE	
6.18 DENTAL PLAN	51
6.19 GROUP LIFE INSURANCE	52
6.20 MUNICIPAL PENSION PLAN	
6.21 RETIREMENT	
6.22 SERVICE RECOGNITION PAY AND RETIREMENT SERVICE PAY	
6.23 VEHICLE ALLOWANCE AND BUSINESS INSURANCE	
6.24 RRSP PLAN	
6.25 EMPLOYMENT INSURANCE	
6.26 JOINT BENEFITS TRUST/GOVERNMENT FUNDED LONG TERM DISABILITY/RETURN TO WOR 6.27 HAND TOOLS – MAINTENANCE EMPLOYEES	
ARTICLE 7 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE AND ARBITRATION	57
7.1 Procedure	57
7.2 Wrongful Dismissal	59
ARTICLE 8 – TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	59

8.1	NOTICE OF CHANGE	59
8.2	DISCUSSION	59
8.3	REFERRAL TO ARBITRATION	59
8.4	Arbitration Board	60
ARTIC	CLE 9 – GENERAL PROVISIONS	60
9.1	Contracting	60
	PICKETING	
9.3	SCHOOL SUPPORT STAFF	61
9.4	CUSTODIAL/JANITORIAL WORKLOAD	62
	EMPLOYEES WITH DISABILITIES	
	A) NO DISCRIMINATION	
,	DUTY TO ACCOMMODATE	
	SEXUAL/PERSONAL HARASSMENT	
	OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY	
9.9 9.10	PROTECTIVE CLOTHING	
9.10		
9.11		
9.13		
9.14		
9.15		
9.16		
9.17	ZEDUCATION ASSISTANT CONSULTATION	68
9.18		
9.19		
9.20		
9.21		
9.22		
9.23		
ARTIC	CLE 10 – SCHEDULES	71
10.1	Schedules	71
SCHE	DULE "A"	73
SCHE	DULE "B"	76
	DULE "C"	
	DULE "D"	
	DULE "E"	
	DULE "F"	
LETTI	ER OF UNDERSTANDING #1	85
LETTI	ER OF UNDERSTANDING #2	86
LETTI	ER OF UNDERSTANDING #3	87
LETTI	ER OF UNDERSTANDING #4	88

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #5	89
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #6	90
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #7	92
ADDENDUM TO LOU #7	93
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #8	94
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #9	95
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #10	97
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #11	98
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #12	99
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #13	101
APPENDIX A	102
PROVINCIAL FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT ("FRAMEWORK")	
INDEX	115

RECOGNITION OF AGREEMENT

BETWEEN: THE BOARD OF EDUCATION

OF SCHOOL DISTRICT No. 44 (NORTH VANCOUVER),

OF THE FIRST PART

AND: CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES

LOCAL 389,

OF THE SECOND PART

WHEREAS it is the desire of both parties to this AGREEMENT to maintain a harmonious relationship between the Board and its employees, to recognize the mutual value of joint discussion and negotiation on all matters pertaining to promote the morale, well-being and security of those employees included in the bargaining unit; and pertaining also to the maintenance of good housekeeping and safe custody of property and equipment;

AND WHEREAS, the parties to the Second Part have formed a Union hereinafter called the "Union";

AND WHEREAS, in accordance with the Certificate of Bargaining Authority dated November 21, 1948, the Board recognized the Union as the sole bargaining agency on behalf of its employees engaged in Janitor, Maintenance and Clerical Work;

AND WHEREAS, each of the parties to this Agreement recognizes the desirability of stability of employment and its importance in the recruitment and retention of qualified and experienced personnel; therefore, the parties hereinto before mentioned do now undertake in co-operation each with the other to employ those methods and practices deemed necessary to achieve and attain for those employees included in the bargaining unit continuous employment with the Board;

AND WHEREAS, it is now thought desirable that methods of bargaining and all matters pertaining to the working conditions of the employees be drawn up in an agreement;

THIS AGREEMENT NOW WITNESSETH that the parties hereto, in consideration of the mutual covenants hereinafter contained, agreed each with the other as follows:

ARTICLE 1 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT

1.1 Duration of Agreement

This agreement shall be for a term from **July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2025** both dates inclusive. Should either party hereto at any time within four (4) months immediately preceding the date of expiry of this Agreement by written notice require the other party hereto to commence collective bargaining, or should the parties be deemed to have given notice under Section 46 of the Labour Relations Code of British Columbia, this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect, and except with respect to changes to rates of pay made pursuant to the Pay Equity/Gender Neutral Job Evaluation Agreement and the Pay Equity Implementation Agreement both (revised April 2010) between the parties, neither party shall make any change or alter the terms of this Agreement until:

- a) The Union can lawfully strike in accordance with the provisions of Part V of the Labour Relations Code of British Columbia; or
- b) The Board can lawfully lock out in accordance with the provisions of Part V of the Labour Relations Code of British Columbia; or
- c) The parties shall have concluded a renewal or revision of this Agreement or shall have entered into a new collective agreement; whichever is the earliest.

1.2 Written Notice

a) Written notice in accordance with Section 1.1 of this Article shall be deemed to have been validly given to the Board if it is mailed under registered cover and addressed as follows:

The Board of Education (School Trustees)
North Vancouver School District No. 44
2121 Lonsdale Avenue
North Vancouver, BC
V7M 2K6

b) Such notice shall be deemed to have been validly given to the Union if it is mailed under registered cover and addressed as follows:

Canadian Union of Public Employees Local 389 #255-1000 Roosevelt Crescent North Vancouver, BC V7P 3R4

1.3 Management Rights

It is agreed and understood that the management, operation, and the direction of the work force is vested exclusively with the Board.

Any other rights of management which are not specifically mentioned in this Agreement and are not contrary to its intent shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement. The Board, when exercising such rights, must do so in a manner which is fair, reasonable, equitable and non-discriminatory.

1.4 Legislative Change

All provisions of this Agreement are subject to applicable laws now or hereafter in effect. If any law now existing or hereafter enacted, or proclamation or regulation shall invalidate or disallow any portion of this Agreement, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in force.

ARTICLE 2 - UNION RECOGNITION

2.1 Union Membership

It is agreed that employees who are at present, members of the Union shall remain so as a condition of employment. It is further agreed that persons who are hereafter employed by the Board shall become members of the Union on the first day of employment and shall remain as members of the Union as a condition of employment, provided that no employees shall be deprived of employment by reason of loss of membership in the Union for reasons other than failure to pay the regular Union dues, fees and assessments that all other members of the Union are required to pay to the Union.

It is further agreed that employees who at the date of this Agreement are not members of the Union shall contribute each pay period, commencing with the first pay received by the employee, to the Union a fee equal to the dues as set by the Union from time to time. It is understood and agreed that the Union and its members will use only peaceable and legitimate means to persuade present members of the staff who are not members of the Union to become members of the Union.

The parties agree that the Union is the sole bargaining agent for all employees covered by this Agreement. The Board agrees that neither the Board nor its representatives shall enter into any agreement with an employee which conflicts with the provisions of this Agreement without the approval of the Union.

It should be noted that the parties have agreed that this Article 2.1 does not apply in cases of emergent or humanitarian requests of a minor nature by an employee.

2.2 Dues Deduction

The Board agrees to honour assignment of wages for Union dues, fees and assessments upon receipt by the Superintendent or designate of a signed authorization form from the employees concerned at least ten (10) days prior to the regular time of making such deductions that month.

2.3 Remittance of Deduction

The Board agrees to remit the deductions made under Section 2.1 and 2.2 of this Article to the Union for each pay period, commencing with the first pay received by the employee, together with the list of those employees from whom such deductions were made. Such deductions and list shall be forwarded to the Union not later than the tenth (10th) day of the following month.

2.4 Dissemination of Information to Employees

- a) The Board agrees to permit the use of its staff bulletin boards by the Union and employees for the posting of notices of meetings and such other notices as may be of interest to the employees. The Board's bulletin boards shall not be used for the posting of any material of a political nature.
- b) The Board agrees to acquaint potential employees with the fact that a Collective Agreement is in effect, and with the conditions of employment with respect to Union Membership and dues check-off.
- c) The Board agrees to provide all new employees with **access to an electronic** copy of the Collective Agreement, with benefit information, and with any other material agreed to jointly with the Union. The Board further agrees to provide new employees with a document to be supplied by the Union with respect to the address and telephone number of the Union's business office and a listing of current Union executive members and stewards.

2.5 Union Representation at Meetings of a Disciplinary Nature

An employee shall have the right to have **their** Steward or Union Representative present at any meeting with supervisory personnel where disciplinary action is contemplated. The supervisor shall notify the employee of the purpose of the meeting, and give the employee the opportunity to request that **their** Steward or Union Representative be present at the meeting. Where an employee has requested the attendance of **their** Steward or Union Representative, **they** shall be given the opportunity for brief private discussion prior to the meeting with the supervisor.

The Board agrees that Stewards and other Union Representatives shall be permitted, upon request of employees, to investigate disputes and to attend meetings pursuant to this Article, during working hours or otherwise.

ARTICLE 3 - HOURS OF WORK AND SHIFTS

3.1 Hours of Work - Maintenance and Janitorial Staff

The regular hours of work shall not exceed eight (8) hours per day or forty (40) hours per week, Monday to Friday inclusive.

3.2 Start Times

Excepting as hereinafter provided, the working week shall commence at 8:00 a.m. Monday for all Janitorial and Maintenance employees, excepting that the hours of commencement of working week for Day Shift, Janitorial personnel in charge of schools may commence prior to 8:00 a.m. but in no event shall such regular hours commence prior to 6:30 a.m.

3.3 Shifts

Maintenance and Janitorial employees may be employed on the following shifts, which shall be defined as:

- a) <u>"Day Shift"</u> a shift of eight (8) consecutive hours of work exclusive of meal times, completed by 4:30 p.m. Monday to Friday inclusive.
- b) <u>"Afternoon Shift"</u> a shift of eight (8) consecutive hours of work, exclusive of meal times, completed prior to 2:00 a.m. Monday to Friday inclusive.
- c) "Night Shift" a shift of eight (8) consecutive hours of work, exclusive of meal times to be completed by 7:30 a.m. on Tuesday to Saturday inclusive.
- d) Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 3.1 hereof, in those schools which are opened on Saturdays and Sundays for public recreation or education, relief janitorial staff may be employed at the straight time rate of pay applicable to Janitors (B4). It is understood and agreed that no regular Full-Time employee shall normally be required to perform relief janitorial duties in accordance with the provisions of this Section, and that no relief janitor shall be required to work more than eight (8) consecutive hours per day, exclusive of meal times. No relief janitor shall be paid for less than four (4) hours after being called out. Should it become necessary for regular Full-Time employees to work on a normal rest day, for any reason whatsoever, the normal overtime provisions shall prevail, except as provided in Article 4.11.

3.4 Change of Shift

- a) Where an employee is required to change shifts on a temporary basis, the Board guarantees a minimum of forty (40) hours pay in a work week (Monday to Friday inclusive) exclusive of overtime payments. However, in the event the employee works regularly, a shift of less than eight (8) hours, the guaranteed hours shall be on a proportionate basis.
- b) The Board will at all times endeavour to give maximum notice possible, which shall be no less than nine (9) hours, to employees required to change or report for shifts other than the shifts they have worked the day previous. Should there not be nine (9) hours between shifts, then overtime shall be paid to the employee at double-time rates for all hours worked until the nine-hour period has elapsed.

3.5 Special Shifts

Maintenance and Janitorial employees may be employed on a shift, other than regular day shift. Such shift shall be a special shift and shall be defined as eight (8) consecutive hours in a twenty-four (24) hour period commencing with the start of such shift.

It is understood and agreed with respect to special shifts that, in addition to the foregoing, the following provisions shall prevail:

- a) That the special shift shall be completed during the regular work week, Monday to Friday inclusive.
- b) That the Board guarantees a minimum of forty (40) hours in the work week, exclusive of overtime payments. However, this does not apply to shifts of less than eight (8) hours.
- c) That the Board will endeavour to give maximum notice possible under these circumstances, to employees called to report for a special shift.
- d) Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3.3, an employee temporarily transferred from Day Shift to another shift, shall be paid a premium rate of ten (10) cents per hour for each hour worked on the shift other than regular day shift. Provided however that such employee shall be paid a premium of sixty (60) cents an hour for any afternoon or night shift worked in accordance with Article 4.7 (this will apply to relief janitors only).

3.6 Reporting for Work and Four Hour Minimum Work Day

a) Reporting for Work

- i) Where an employee, except where exemptions apply in Article 3.6.b)(ii) reports for a shift and no work is available, such employee shall be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours; and in the event the employee commences work, a minimum of four (4) hours shall be paid.
- ii) If a casual employee, except where exemptions apply in Article 3.6.b)(ii), is not required for work, **they** shall be notified not less than two (2) hours before the commencement of the shift; otherwise, such employee shall be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours. In the event the employee commences work, a minimum of four (4) hours shall be paid.

b) Four Hour Minimum Work Day

- i) The district is committed to providing a minimum of four (4) hours of work for regular, school term, or temporary/casual employees.
- ii) Exemptions from the four hour minimum:
 - a) Supervision Aides (elementary and secondary)
 - b) Food Program Aides
 - c) Small schools with fewer than 75 students in which case a two(2) hour minimum will apply
 - d) Replacement for Education Assistants taking part day leaves of absence of less than four hours
 - e) Other positions by mutual agreement
- iii) The four hours shall be consecutive but may exclude a lunch period of up to one (1) hour or a shorter period as defined elsewhere in the Collective Agreement.
- iv) Bus drivers are exempt from the requirement from consecutive hours. The daily hours for bus drivers shall be completed within a period of twelve (12) consecutive hours.
 - Where posting of additional hours is required, the Collective Agreement, Article 5.1(f), or Letter of Understanding #3, shall apply.

3.7 Meal Times and Rest Periods

- a) It is agreed and understood that all Janitorial and Maintenance employees shall be permitted a ten (10) minute rest period during each scheduled four (4) hours of work. It is further understood and agreed that such rest period(s) shall be taken at times that will cause the least possible interference with the work in which the employee is engaged, and may be specified by the Director of Facilities and Planning, or **their** duly authorized representative.
- b) It is agreed and understood that all Janitorial and Maintenance employees shall be permitted one-half (1/2) hour as a lunch period, and as a general rule during such lunch periods it shall be permissible for the employee to leave the school premises.

The Board recognizes the importance of an interruption free lunch period for custodians. If, however, custodians are interrupted during a scheduled lunch break for emergent situations, and are required to leave **their** lunchroom premises, they shall be compensated for the time worked at straight time rates.

It is further agreed and understood that the lunch period for Janitorial staff on day shift may be taken between the hours of 10:45 a.m. and 12:00 noon, and that, on other shifts, the one-half (1/2) hour lunch period shall be taken within a period of one (1) hour of the completion of four (4) hours of work.

Maintenance employees, employed on the day shift, shall have a half (1/2) hour lunch period between 12:00 noon and 12:30 p.m.

3.8 Hours of Work - Support Staff

- a) The working week for Support staff shall commence at 8:00 a.m. Monday.
- b) The regular hours of work for Support staff shall not exceed seven (7) hours per day, or thirty-five (35) hours per week, worked between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday to Friday inclusive.

3.9 Lunch and Rest Periods - Support Staff

a) Support staff shall be allowed one (1) hour for lunch, with the exception of those employees whose duties indicate that a half (1/2) hour lunch period would assist **their** duties, and who are prepared to accept a half (1/2) hour period, provided **their** normal working hours are not extended.

- b) Support staff shall be allowed a ten (10) minute rest period during the forenoon and during the afternoon of each working day. It is agreed and understood that such periods shall be taken at times that will cause the least possible interference with the work in which the employees are engaged; however, it is further agreed and understood that the times of such rest periods may be specified by the Board.
- c) Part-time Support staff shall be granted a lunch period of not less than thirty (30) minutes unpaid and a paid ten (10) minute rest period(s) according to the following schedule:

EMPLOYEE'S HOURS	REST PERIOD AND/OR
PER DAY	LUNCH PERIOD
2	No Break
3	One Rest Period
4	One Rest Period or One Lunch Period
5	One Rest Period and, One Lunch Period
6	Two Rest Periods and, One Lunch Period

3.10 Non – Regular Hours of Work

- a) Notwithstanding Sections 3.2 and 3.8 of this Article, it is agreed that certain operations of the Board are performed on Saturdays and Sundays and/or with daily starting times other than those mentioned above. It is further agreed that those classes of employees set out in Schedule "D" attached hereto, may have a normal work week other than Monday through Friday and/or with daily starting times other than those mentioned above.
- b) It is further agreed that employees who are requested by the Superintendent or designate to attend a meeting outside of work hours will be compensated at their regular pay rate, subject to Article 4.9 where applicable.

3.11 Summer Hours

- a) During July and August the hours of work shall be 7:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. for employees working in maintenance and schools. The Board shall determine the starting and stopping times for the janitorial, maintenance, and support staff.
- b) It is expected all employees make the necessary adjustments to conform to the summer hours arrangement.

ARTICLE 4 – CLASSIFICATION AND PAY

4.1 Classification and Evaluation of Positions

The classification and evaluation of new and existing positions covered by this Agreement shall be determined in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Pay Equity/Gender Neutral Job Evaluation Agreement (revised April 2010) and the Pay Equity Implementation Agreement both dated June 16, 1999, until such time as the Job Evaluation Joint Committee (JEJC) shall recommend to the parties the following:

- a) A new or revised Pay Equity/Gender Neutral Job Evaluation Agreement
- b) A new or revised Job Evaluation Plan
- c) A template for Class Specifications based on Job Evaluation Plan
- d) New or revised changes to the Job Analysis Questionnaire in accordance with the new or revised Job Evaluation Plan
- e) Any other changes as the Job Evaluation Joint Committee may see fit to recommend

The Job Evaluation Joint Committee (JEJC), (not the JJEC), shall be comprised of the following:

CUPE President or designate Board Representative or designate CUPE Representative from JJEC Board Representative from JJEC

Each party may also bring no more than one (1) outside consultant to provide professional advice and support to the discussions.

It is understood that until a new Agreement and Plan are agreed to by the parties, the existing Agreement and Plan shall remain in force.

4.2 Definitions of Employees

- a) <u>Use of Masculine Term</u> Wherever in this Agreement the masculine term is used, it is understood that the reference shall include all genders where the context so requires.
- b) <u>"Employee"</u> shall mean a person who is an "employee" as defined by the Labour Code of British Columbia.

- c) <u>"Probationary Employee"</u> shall mean and include those employees employed during the first three (3) continuous months of service in any position to determine the suitability of the employee for continued employment.
 - It is mutually agreed between the parties that the probationary period may be extended a further period not exceeding three (3) months and in such event the employee and the Union shall be notified in writing of such extension.
- d) <u>"Regular Full-Time Employee"</u> shall mean an employee who has successfully completed the prescribed period of probation and who is employed each working day during the calendar year on a full-time basis.
- e) <u>"Regular Part-Time Employee"</u> shall mean an employee who has successfully completed the prescribed period of probation and who is employed each working day during the calendar year on less than a full-time basis.
- f) <u>"Temporary Full-Time Employee"</u> shall mean a casual employee who is in a temporary full-time 12 month position that has exceeded six (6) months in the position.
- g) <u>"Full-Time School-Term Employee"</u> shall mean an employee who has successfully completed the prescribed period of probation and who is employed each working day during the school year on a full-time basis.
- h) <u>"Part-Time School-Term Employee"</u> shall mean an employee who has successfully completed the prescribed period of probation and who is employed during the school year on less than a full-time basis.
- i) <u>"Casual Employee"</u> shall mean an employee hired on a day-to-day or temporary basis to relieve other employees, augment the regular or school term staff or who is engaged on a special project which shall include replacing an employee on a Board authorized leave of absence.
- j) <u>"Department Head"</u> shall mean the Superintendent or designate.

4.3 Trial Period

An employee promoted or transferred will be on trial for a period of three (3) months. If at the end of that time the employee does not prove to be satisfactory in such higher rated position, **they** shall be returned to **their** former position without loss of seniority or salary in such former position.

4.4 Acting Rates

An employee placed temporarily in a higher rated position than the employee's regular position shall be paid the higher rate while so employed in such higher rated position. An employee placed temporarily in a lower rated position than the employee's regular position shall be paid the normal rate of **their** regular position while so employed in such lower rated position.

4.5 Rates of Pay

New employees or employees re-engaged shall be entitled to the rate of pay for the position for which engaged as outlined in Schedule "A." If there is no classification or pay rate in Schedule "A" of this Agreement for the position, then the pay rate shall be established in accordance with Article 4.1.

4.6 Transfers and Promotions

In the event a Board employee is promoted or transferred to a new position, the employee shall receive the pay rate for the new position.

4.7 Shift Premiums

A standard shift premium of (75) seventy-five cents effectively July 1, 2023 and (1) one dollar per hour effective July 1, 2024, shall be paid to all classes to which shift premiums apply, and shall be payable for all regular hours worked more than one (1) hour on either side of the recognized normal or standard daily hours, provided that where the majority of an employee's regular hours fall outside the period described above, the shift premium shall apply to the entire shift.

4.8 Charge Hand Premium

A charge hand is an employee who is in charge of a crew of three or more; **they** shall be paid at the rate of thirty-five (35) cents per hour above the employee's regular rate whilst so employed. This shall apply to Maintenance Trade and Maintenance Utility classifications.

4.9 Overtime Payments

Overtime is to be effective after the completion of seven (7) hours of work in any working day in any case of support staff as referred to in Article 3.8, and eight (8) hours of work in any working day in the case of maintenance and janitorial employees as referred to in Articles 3.1 and 3.2. In the case of Regular Full-Time, Full-Time School-Term and Casual Full-Time employees, such overtime shall be defined as (a) time worked immediately following an employee's regular shift; (b) in cases where it has been pre-scheduled by notice provided prior to the end of the previous regular shift, time worked immediately preceding an employee's regular shift; or (c) in cases where it has been pre-scheduled by notice provided prior to the end of the previous regular shift, time worked at any other time.

Overtime shall be paid at regular rates:

x1 1/2 for the first two (2) hours of overtime on any regular working day if worked immediately preceding or immediately following an employee's regular shift;

x2 for all overtime beyond two (2) hours on any regular working day if worked immediately preceding or immediately following an employee's regular shift;

x2 for all overtime worked any other time than immediately preceding or immediately following an employee's regular shift. It is understood that for the purposes of this provision, a minimum call out of two (2) hours shall apply.

4.10 Overtime Banking

All employees who are required to work overtime may elect at the time of working such overtime either to be paid for it or to receive compensating time off. An employee, who elects to receive time off, shall be credited with time equivalent to the number of hours for which **they** would have received overtime payment to a maximum of eighty (80) hours per calendar year. Subject to an employee's request being approved by the Department Head or designate, such employee shall be granted any portion of the accumulated time off at the pay rate or rates in effect at the time the overtime was worked. All overtime banked during a particular calendar year which has not been granted to an employee by March 31st of the immediately following year, the outstanding balance shall be paid out.

An employee may, at any time, request <u>full</u> payment of all banked overtime, and where such request is received in sufficient time, such payment shall be included in the employee's next regular pay cheque.

4.11 Call-Outs and Standby

a) Standby

- i) For all standby between the end of normal day shift on the first day of work in a week (i.e. excluding statutory holidays) until the beginning of normal day shift on the last day of work in a week (i.e. excluding statutory holidays) employees on standby will earn one (1) hour's pay x1 for each period of eight (8) hours standing by, in addition to call-out pay as earned.
- ii) For all other standby (i.e. on statutory holidays and weekend) one (1) hour's pay x1 for each period of six (6) hours standing by, in addition to call-out pay as earned.
- iii) Should an employee receive a call after the expiration of the two (2) hour period, another two (2) hour minimum shall be applicable.

b) <u>Call-outs while on Standby</u>

It is agreed that employees on official standby shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours pay at double the Janitor (B4) rates. If additional calls are made upon the employee prior to the expiration of the two (2) hour period (which shall have commenced upon receipt of the first call) then such additional call shall not attract an additional two (2) hours minimum. However, the employee shall be paid for time actually worked outside the two (2) hour period and in addition shall be paid a standby premium in accordance with the following provisions.

c) Call-outs

Call-outs shall be defined in the case of Regular Full-Time, Full-Time School Term and Casual Full-Time employees as being called back to work at any time following completion of an employee's regular shift which is then defined as overtime. In such instances, call-out payment shall be at regular rates:

x2 for the time actually worked plus one (1) hour's allowance for travelling to and from home, with a minimum of three (3) hour period or prior to **their** arrival home, whichever last occurs, such additional calls shall not attract an additional three (3) hours minimum, but the employee shall be paid for the time actually worked. ii) Plus an additional one (1) hour's allowance for travelling to and from home. If two (2) separate call-outs are completed within a three (3) hour period, the minimum payment shall be four (4) hours x2.

N.B. In any case where a period of standby amounts to more than an exact multiple of six (6) or eight (8) hours as the case may be, then if the residual balance amounts to half or less than half of a full period, the standby pay shall be one half (1/2) an hour x1, while if the residual balance amounts to more than half of a full period, the standby pay shall be one (1) hour x1. Employees on official standby shall not be entitled to the payments for travel and meal breaks as provided in paragraph a) hereof and in Article 4.12 of this Agreement.

4.12 Meal Breaks and Allowances during Overtime and Call-Outs

a) Meal Breaks during Overtime

Upon completion of two (2) continuous hours of overtime immediately preceding or immediately following an employee's regular shift, the employee becomes entitled to a paid meal break of one half (1/2) hour which the Board may permit to be started at any time within the two (2) hour period but, except in an emergency, no later than the end of two (2) hours.

b) <u>Meal Breaks during Call-Outs and Pre-Scheduled Overtime</u>

Upon completion of three and one half (3 1/2) hours of work following a callout or following the commencement of pre-scheduled overtime, occurring at any time other than immediately preceding or immediately following an employee's regular shift, an employee becomes entitled to a paid meal break of a one half (1/2) hour which the Board may permit to be started at any time within the three and one half (3 1/2) hour period but except in an emergency, no later than the end of the three and one half (3 1/2) hours.

c) Meal Breaks during Overtime and Call-Outs

Upon completion of any succeeding four (4) hours, the employee becomes entitled to a further paid meal break of one half (1/2) hour which, except in an emergency, shall be taken starting four (4) hours after the time when the employee became entitled to the previous meal break. Pay for all meal breaks shall be at x 2 rates.

Where because of an emergency, it is not feasible to provide a meal break at the otherwise designated time, it shall be taken as soon as practicable, and in addition the Board shall be responsible for supplying some reasonable form of nourishment during the course of the work at such time

as the employee would otherwise have been entitled to a paid meal break. The supplying of nourishment by the Board does not disqualify the employee from receiving the appropriate meal allowance.

d) Meal Allowance

The Board will not be responsible for supplying nourishment to employees in any other circumstances except as mentioned above in the cases of emergencies which preclude a meal break being taken at the designated time.

Reimbursement of meal expenses will be introduced according to the following scale and with reference to the paid meal breaks set out above, it being clearly understood that continuous periods of time must be worked to qualify both for the paid meal break and the following meal allowances:

- Overtime preceding or immediately following a regular shift: \$10.00 i) at the first break and \$5.00 at each succeeding break;
- ii) Call-Out: \$10.00 at the first break and \$5.00 at each succeeding break;
- iii) Pre-scheduled overtime other than immediately preceding or immediately following an employee's regular shift where an employee is notified prior to the end of the preceding day that overtime is likely to last at least four (4) hours: nothing at the first break; \$10.00 at the second break; and \$5.00 at each succeeding break.

No receipts will be required, but the payments are required to be treated as taxable income.

First Aid Attendants/Premium 4.13

It is recognized that the Workers' Compensation regulations require the appointment of First Aid attendants in the workplace.

- a) The Board shall pay the full cost of the approved courses required to be taken by any employee who is required by the Board to hold a WorkSafeBC designated First Aid Certificate. The Board shall also pay the cost of courses and fees for re-certification of such employees. Courses will not normally be taken during regular working hours.
- b) Employees who have been designated as First Aid attendants and as an alternate First Aid attendant shall continue from year to year and shall be SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 44 (NORTH VANCOUVER) AND CUPE LOCAL 389 2022-2025 Collective Agreement

replaced when they no longer hold the necessary certificate, are unwilling to serve as a First Aid attendant, or if they leave the work site where they are the designated attendant or alternate.

- c) The Board shall designate First Aid attendants as required under the WorkSafeBC regulations each September from amongst those who hold and/or who are willing to attain the appropriate First Aid certificate and to serve as a First Aid attendant.
- d) First Aid Certificate Premiums:

Designated First Aid attendants shall be paid a monthly premium as follows: WorkSafeBC Occupational First Aid Level 1 \$35.00 WorkSafeBC Occupational First Aid Level 2 \$70.00

It is understood that a ten-month (10) employee shall receive the premium ten (10) times per year and a twelve-month (12) employee, twelve (12) times per year.

Those employees who are currently in receipt of the Occupational First Aid certificate premiums shall receive either the Level 1 or Level 2.

4.14 Driver Differential

A driver differential of sixty (60) cents per hour shall be paid to individuals who are required, in the course of **their** duties, to transport special needs students by a School District vehicle.

These employees must have a Class 4 Driver's licence in accordance with the Motor Vehicle Act of the province of British Columbia.

Employees claiming the Driver Differential will be paid it for the time they are actually transporting students or for a minimum of one (1) hour per day.

Time claimed for driving must be reported to the ADT office and submitted each pay period.

Where driving duties, and therefore, a Class 4 Driver's licence are a requirement for a vacant position, such shall be noted on the posting.

4.15 Trades Premium

A Trades Premium of sixty (60) cents per hour shall be paid to individuals in the positions classed as Trades and Trades Supervisors, providing the individual holds a relevant provincial trade's qualification or industrial provincial ticket or licence that is over and above the trade's qualification that is cited in the Class Specification. The ticket or licence must be a current and valid one, and it must be related to the position occupied by the employee.

Employees claiming the Trades Premium must submit to the Human Resources Department, in writing, a letter specifying the provincial ticket(s) or licence(s) they possess which entitles them to the premium. The original documents must be provided to the Human Resources Department and a photocopy will be placed on permanent record in the employee's file.

Any claim for the Trades Premium will be effective the date the request, with the required documentation, is received in the Human Resources Department, providing the request is approved. Employees, whose requests are approved, will be paid that premium for all hours worked as long as the ticket or license is current.

4.16 Trades Supervisor Premium

The Trades Supervisor positions will receive the Trades Supervisor Premium of forty-two (42) cents per hour.

4.17 Transfer of Care Allowance

An allowance of \$0.50 per hour where public health has trained and signed off transfer of care responsibilities on the employee. The allowance would only apply to hours worked.

For the 2022-2023 school year, eligible employees in permanent positions as of September 6, 2022, will receive retroactive pay to October 15, 2022.

4.18 Casual Premium

An allowance of \$0.35 per hour where a casual employee has accepted shifts on at least 75% of prescribed workdays in a month, paid retroactively on all shifts worked. This applies to casual Custodians and Education Assistants.

For the 2022-2023 school year, eligible employees as of September 6, 2022, will receive retroactive pay to October 15, 2022.

ARTICLE 5 – EMPLOYMENT

5.1 Posting Vacancies

 i) Where vacancies exist or new positions created, notice shall be posted in all locations of the Board and online, and a copy shall be mailed to the Union.

ii) Postings

All postings shall contain the following information: nature of position, education, required knowledge, abilities and skills, shift, hours of work, wage rate, work location(s) and duration of temporary assignment. All postings shall be posted on Fridays, except during the summer break as outlined in 5.1(e).

iii) It is understood that when a temporary assignment is posted the employer shall indicate the end date of the assignment and may also indicate that the assignment can be extended or reduced due to funding changes.

iv) Employee's Right to Return after Authorized Absence

An employee who is on an authorized leave of absence (e.g. sick leave, vacation, **maternity**/parental leave, or other leave of absence without pay, (except personal leave) has the right to return to **their** former position within twenty-four (24) months. If the employee returns after the twenty-four (24) month period the employee shall be subject to the rights and procedures contained in Article 5.3.

- b) i) Any laid off employee who has filed a standard application, and is subsequently unsuccessful in obtaining a position for which **they** have the required qualifications and seniority, shall have access to the Grievance procedure pursuant to Article 7 of this Agreement.
 - ii) It is further agreed that in such instances, and where the vacancy has been filled during the summer months, the time limit for filing such grievances pursuant to Article 7.1(a) shall be extended to September 30th of the year in which the posting occurred.

- c) i) Any position of less than two (2) months shall not be posted. The senior person on site would be offered the acting role for the period of leave as per Article 4.4. The Union shall be advised of all such positions. Temporary positions in excess of two (2) months shall be posted unless this period of time is extended pursuant to Article 5.1(c) (ii). Positions for work in the summer break, in excess of one (1) month, shall be posted.
 - ii) In the event of extenuating circumstances which extends the position past the two (2) month period above, the Union shall be advised.
 - iii) Additional Work during Spring, Summer or Winter Breaks

The Board will request in May of each year, expressions of interest from employees who desire additional work during normal school breaks, where the positions are less than one (1) month. The deadline for employees to apply for work in the breaks shall be June 15th, and the list shall remain in place to assign such work from July 1st to June 30th of the following year. Any employee hired after June 15th may add their name to the list. Providing those registering have the required knowledge, ability and skills to do the additional work assignment, the Board will hire on a seniority basis from those employees who expressed interest and are on the list at the time of the assignment of work. Once an assignment has been made, it shall not be changed unless the employee who has accepted it withdraws. It is understood that because of the shortterm nature of the temporary assignment, the employee must be able to perform the duties of the position within a two or three day orientation period.

- d) i) In normal circumstances, vacancies shall be filled within thirty (30) days of posting closing, and the Union shall be informed, in writing, of the name of the successful applicant, within seven (7) days of the position being filled.
 - ii) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may for any reason, refrain from filling any position which becomes vacant, or may defer making an appointment if all applicants fail to meet the requirements of the position.
 - iii) Where the filling of a vacancy is not made within thirty (30) days of posting closing, the Board shall notify the Union, in writing.

- iv) Any twelve month employee who is on layoff or vacation during all or part of July or August who wishes to be considered for positions which may become available during **their** absence must make written application for specific positions by June 30th of each year. Such application must be submitted to the Human Resources Department.
- v) Any employee on extended layoff who wishes to be considered for any vacancy must make written application for specific positions in accordance with the posted notices. It is understood that any employee on compulsory layoff shall retain seniority rights in accordance with the provisions of Article 5.3.
- vi) Where an employee posts into a position and does not wish to remain in such position, they may revert to **their** former position within seven (7) calendar days only if it has not yet been filled. In this case only, the vacated position does not have to be re-posted. The original posting would be utilized to fill the position from the next employee(s) on the list.

e) Summer Postings and Procedures

It is recognized that during the months of July and August, it may be impractical to post the notices of vacancies in all sites. During such months, all staff vacancies shall be posted electronically on the internal communication system and a job postings binder at the Education Services Centre and the Maintenance Shop.

In planning for the school year commencing in September and in filling school term positions, the following procedures and time lines shall be followed:

- i) All known vacancies for the next school year shall be posted prior to June 30th or the last designated day of the school year as they arise.
- ii) There will be no posting of school term positions in the last two weeks of July and the first two weeks of August. The exact calendar dates will be determined each year by the parties and will be communicated to all employees in June.
- iii) All postings during July and August will be posted on Friday. Applicants will have one (1) week in which to apply. Successful applicants shall be notified within ten (10) days.

f) Changes in Hours – Education Assistant

The parties recognize that the nature of the work undertaken by Education Assistant employees may require flexibility in regard to the posting, layoff and bumping provisions of the Collective Agreement. Such flexibility is not in any way intended to limit the rights of the employee, but in recognizing the potential for disruption during the school year, may justify postponing the exercising of these rights.

- i) If during the school year it is necessary that additional time up to one (1) hour per day be granted to a part-time employee, such hours may be granted on a temporary basis without posting. If such hours do not increase the hours of a child specific position, the additional hours will normally be offered to the most senior qualified Education Assistant, Autism Support Worker, Learning Support Worker, Behaviour Support Worker and First Nations Support Worker, in that school or program. If these hours are to continue beyond the current school year, the position will be posted prior to the start of the next school year, as per Article 5.1(a) above.
- ii) Where there is a reduction or elimination of an Education Assistant employee's hours during the school year the employee shall be laid off, or the employer may, with the employee's consent, transfer the employee to a new location with the same number of hours, for the balance of the school year or assign the employee on a relief basis for the balance of the school year with a guarantee of the same number of hours.
- iii) In the event an employee (who accepted an alternate assignment as in (iii) above) is not able to obtain a satisfactory position prior to the start of the next school year, bumping rights may be implemented at that time.
- iv) The parties recognize that circumstances may arise where a student receiving one-on-one assistance transfers to another location, or circumstances may require the transfer of a special needs program to a new location. The employee assigned to that student or program may remain in the present location if there is a vacancy; otherwise, the employee would move with the student or program to the new location.

Should there be circumstances that make it inappropriate for the employee to move to the new location or there is no vacancy in the present location, 5.1(f)(ii) above will apply.

- v) The Employer will notify the Union in writing when hours are increased or decreased as per (ii) and (iii) above or when applying (v), prior to making any of the adjustments as described above.
- vi) The provisions of this Section (f) shall apply from the first day of the school year in September until the last day of school in the following June and shall cover only Education Assistants, Autism Support Workers, Learning Support Workers, Behaviour Support Workers, and Indigenous Support Workers.
- vii) Should there be any disagreement on the application of 5.1(f)(ii) through (vii), the parties shall, within ten (10) days, seek the assistance of an arbitrator to mediate the disagreement. In the event that the parties are not able to reach agreement at mediation they shall ask the mediator to issue binding recommendations. Such recommendations while binding shall not be precedent setting.

g) Education Assistant Continuity

The parties agree that a quality educational program for a student requires dependability and minimal disruption to the essential supports needed to achieve success. Education Assistants in student support positions who commit to an assignment for the school year in order to best support students and learning will be eligible for a portion of a continuity allowance at the end of the school year.

h) <u>Janitorial Crew Transfers</u>

- i) It is understood that in exceptional circumstances, after consultation with the Union and the employee involved, a transfer to the spare crew may occur. The vacated position will be posted as per the Collective Agreement.
- ii) Work location for the spare janitorial crew and waxing crew are deemed to be "as assigned."
- iii) It is acknowledged that the employer may initiate short term transfers to a different work location to look after emergent situations, vacation or other absence problems not covered by the spare crew. The parties agree these assignments shall not be longer than two (2) weeks.

5.2 Seniority Recognition

- Seniority is defined as a total length of continuous service in the bargaining unit for all employees. Seniority shall operate on a bargaining-unit-wide basis.
- b) i) In making promotions, demotions, transfers or layoffs, the required knowledge, abilities and skills as outlined in the Class Specification shall be the primary consideration and, where two (2) or more applicants are capable of fulfilling the duties of the position, the length of service with the Board shall be the determining factor. It is agreed and understood that, in the matter of applicants, current service employees shall be given preference.
 - ii) For the purpose of this Article 5, "knowledge, abilities and skills" shall mean that there is an expectation, based upon a reasonable period of orientation (trial period, Article 4.3) and upon the senior employee's previous training and experience, that the employee will be able to satisfactorily perform the regular duties of the position.

c) Seniority during Absence

- i) Where an employee is absent due to Sick Leave, Workers' Compensation, or Leave of Absence granted officially, and is receiving remuneration from the Board or the WorkSafeBC, such periods of absence shall be calculated as part of the employee's service for the determination of eligibility for perquisites and determining length of service of the above employee.
- ii) Where an employee is officially absent for any reason and is not in receipt of remuneration from the employer or the WorkSafeBC, **they** shall not be entitled to any of the benefits enumerated in this Agreement, other than seniority rights.

d) Casual Seniority

- i) A casual employee who accumulates ninety (90) working days/shifts in a consecutive twelve (12) month period shall have casual seniority for the purpose of hiring preference for posted positions under 5.2(b) above.
- ii) Time worked since attaining casual seniority shall be used for the purpose of seniority comparison for posted positions in 5.2(b) above.

- iii) A casual employee who has attained casual seniority and who completes a probation period as per Article 4.2(c) shall be entitled to all seniority rights covered by this Agreement.
- iv) a) For the purpose of establishing a seniority date, seniority shall be calculated on the basis of one (1) day's seniority for each one (1) day or portion thereof, worked, and shall be backdated from the date of appointment to a permanent position.
 - b) An employee hired to a twelve (12) month position shall have seniority backdated using all working days in a twelve (12) month period approximately two hundred and sixty (260) as the basis for the calculation.
 - c) An employee hired to a school term position shall have seniority back dated using all school term working days only (approximately one hundred and eighty (180)), that is all working days excluding Winter, Spring and Summer breaks.
- v) A casual employee shall not be entitled to any of the benefits provided in Article 6 save and except those specified in Article 6.1(d), 6.1(f), 6.9, 6.23 and 6.27.
- vi) Casual employees who wish to remain on the casual work list must indicate **their** desire no later than June 30th each year. A casual who has not communicated **their** interest by June 30th will be deleted from the casual work list.
- vii) A casual employee who is unavailable to work a minimum of three (3) shifts within a three (3) month period or who has not complied with (vi) above will be notified by the Board in writing that they have been removed from the casual list.

5.3 Staffing Reorganization, Layoff, Bumping and Recall

a) <u>Definitions</u>

- i) Staffing Reorganization A staffing reorganization is defined as the employer's right or need to assign the work force in such a way as the employee's regular classification or regular hours of work are not changed.
- ii) Surplus Transfer
 As a result of a staffing reorganization, an employee may be designated surplus and subject to transfer.

iii) Layoff

A layoff shall be defined as a reduction in the work force or a reduction of an employee's regular or normal hours of work with the exception of 5.3.b)(ii) of this article.

iv) Bumping

Bumping shall be defined as the action of an employee to displace a more junior where there is a layoff.

v) Recall

Recall is defined as the process whereby an employee who is laid off shall be offered a return to **their** former classification, during the recall period, if such a position becomes available.

vi) Recall List

The Recall List is defined as a list of all employees who have been laid off and who have not subsequently obtained a permanent position.

vii) Role of Seniority in Layoffs

Both parties recognize that job security shall increase in proportion to length of continuous seniority. The employer has the right and responsibility to select positions that are subject to layoff. Therefore, in the event of a layoff, affected employees shall be laid off in the reverse order of their bargaining-unit-wide seniority within their classification.

viii) Termination Pay

Laid off employees may elect to receive Termination Pay at any time up to thirty (30) days following receipt of notice of layoff. An employee who elects to receive Termination Pay shall forfeit all seniority rights and right to recall pursuant to this article.

b) <u>Staffing Reorganization and Procedures</u>

The Board has the right to organize the work force to meet operational needs. Employees may be designated surplus and be subject to a surplus transfer to a vacancy, for reasons such as student withdrawal, enrolment decline, school closure, or workload reconfiguration. The Board shall provide the Union, notice in writing, as soon as practicable, of a surplus transfer situation.

In priority order, the following factors will be applied when an employee is subject to surplus designation:

- 1. After being given notice of surplus designation, as per the same entitlement under (c)(i)(a), the employee may first accept a reduction of hours at the same location if such is offered.
- 2. If the employee is not offered or does not accept reduced hours, the employee will be designated surplus without entitlement of advance notice as per (c)(i)(a) and maintain the previous hours.
- 3. If the employee does not accept a transfer to an offer of a vacancy(s), within forty-eight (48) hours of such offer, the employee will then be subject to layoff.

Employees designated surplus shall be advised of known available vacancies in the school district and given first opportunity to obtain a vacant position prior to the vacancies being posted provided that the position matches the surplus employee's knowledge, abilities and skills. If there are no available vacancies in the employee's classification, the surplus employee would be laid off.

c) Layoff Rights and Procedures

- i) Advance Notice of Layoff
 - a) Unless legislation is more favourable to the employee, the employer shall give an employee who is to be laid off advance notice of layoff in writing as follows:
 - four (4) or less years of service, twenty (20) working days;
 - five (5) years of service, twenty-five (25) working days:
 - six (6) years of service, thirty (30) working days;
 - seven (7) years of service, thirty-five (35) working days:
 - eight (8) years or more of service, forty (40) working days.
 - b) If the employee has not had the opportunity to work the days as provided in this Article 5.3(c)(i)(a), **they** shall be paid for the days for which work was not made available.

ii) Layoff Procedure

- a) Once the employee to be laid off has been identified, the employee shall be given advance notice of layoff as per (i) above and a NON TEACHING LAYOFF RESPONSE FORM (see Schedule "F").
- b) The employee shall return the form to the Human Resources Department or as indicated on the form.

c) Upon receiving layoff notice, an employee wishing to work on a casual or on call basis in positions that come available and are not posted shall register with the Human Resources Department, specifying those positions for which the employee is qualified. Such work shall not affect the employee's recall rights.

iii) Layoff While on Authorized Absence

An employee who is laid off while on an authorized leave of absence, shall have ten (10) working days after returning from the authorized absence to respond to the Human Resources Department as per (ii) above.

iv) Completion of Temporary Assignment

When a temporary assignment ends the employee shall return to **their** former position. The end of the assignment is not deemed to be a layoff.

d) Bumping Rights and Procedures

- i) Bumping shall be permitted only where all the following requirements have been met:
 - a) The more senior employee has been served with a notice of layoff.
 - b) The more senior employee has the required knowledge, abilities and skills to perform the duties of a more junior employee's position. In special circumstances, the Union and Board shall meet on a case-by-case basis to review positions where a junior employee, because of a unique skill set, needs to be retained to provide continuity in implementing a student's IEP. For the purpose of this Article, "knowledge, abilities and skills" shall mean that there is an expectation, based upon a reasonable period of orientation (trial period, Article 4.3) and upon the senior employee's previous training and experience, that the senior employee will be able to satisfactorily perform the regular duties of the more junior employee.

- c) The employee wishing to bump a more junior employee has notified the Human Resources Department, using the NON TEACHING LAYOFF RESPONSE FORM, of **their** intention to bump, and that such notification has been given within ten (10) working days of the receipt of the notice of layoff.
- ii) Within a further ten (10) working days the employee shall be notified in writing whether **they are** allowed to bump, pursuant to (d)(i)(b) or that **their** request to bump has been denied.
- iii) The approved bump shall take effect as soon as operationally feasible but no later than four (4) weeks following the last day as indicated in the advance notice of layoff.
- iv) If the employee has been denied the bump, the employee may choose to bump another employee and/or to file a grievance claiming the position the employee had first sought to bump into.
- v) In the event that an employee who has bumped into another position fails the trial period for the position, the employee shall have the option of choosing termination pay or of going onto the recall list.

e) Recall Rights and Procedures

- i) An employee shall remain on the recall list until they obtain a permanent position or for a maximum of thirty-six (36) months whichever is less.
- ii) Prior to posting, if a position becomes available in the same classification, an employee shall be offered recall in order of seniority, provided that the employee has the knowledge, abilities and skills to meet the requirements of the position. If the position has different hours or a different shift from the position laid off from, the employee may decline such an offer of recall without penalty. An employee has forty-eight (48) hours to decide to accept or decline any offer of recall. An employee on recall must provide the Board with a current address and contact number for the purposes of this clause.
- iii) An employee who declines three (3) offers of recall to the same classification, hours, and shift as their previous position shall no longer have recall rights, except if the employee declines for medical reasons.

- iv) An employee, who takes retirement or termination pay or who resigns, shall no longer have recall rights.
- v) An employee with recall rights, may request their recall rights to be temporarily suspended if they do not wish to be available for recall within the thirty-six (36) month recall period. They may reactivate those rights at any time by writing to the Human Resources Department. Any temporary suspension of recall rights would not extend the length of the recall period.

f) Seniority Accrual while on Recall

No employee covered by this Agreement shall suffer loss of seniority due to layoff for a period not exceeding thirty-six (36) months provided, however, that the employee reports for work within five (5) working days after acceptance of recall.

g) Benefits for Employees on Recall

Employees on recall may elect to continue benefit coverage, where allowable by the benefit providers. If an employee chooses to maintain benefit coverage, the employee shall either prepay or provide the Board with monthly post-dated cheques for the employer and employee portions of the benefit costs while on recall.

5.4 Rights of Employees Promoted out of the Bargaining Unit

- a) An employee who is promoted or transferred from a position for which the Union has bargaining authority to a position for which it does not have bargaining authority, the employee shall cease to accumulate seniority for any of the purposes enumerated in this Agreement. If the employee does not return to the bargaining unit within a period of three (3) months from the date of appointment to the non-bargaining unit position or after fulfilling an acting role for a temporary period of time, that employee shall have no right to return to the bargaining unit except as a new employee.
- b) For those employees who were promoted out of the bargaining unit prior to July 1, 1996 the following shall apply for the balance of the term of this Agreement:

In the event an employee is promoted or transferred from a position for which the Union has bargaining authority to a position for which it does not have bargaining authority, the employee shall cease to accumulate seniority for any of the purposes enumerated in this Agreement. If such employee is subsequently laid off or terminated, the employee shall immediately reacquire all seniority rights accumulated as a member of the Union, and shall be permitted to exercise these rights, including the right to bump more junior employees pursuant to Article 5.3.

5.5 Employee Records

- a) The Board will maintain a record showing the date upon which each employee's service commenced and terminated. Any employee may request information from the Board relative to **their** own seniority.
- b) On written request to the Superintendent or designate, the President or other representatives of the Union will be supplied with a copy of such record and/or with the necessary information relative to seniority and rates of pay of any employee or group of employees.
 - i) Access to Demographic and Class Info the Board agrees to providing information to CUPE, annually on October 1st, including job title, wage level, weekly hours, job type, status, years of work (seniority), class specification, age and gender.
- c) i) An employee shall have access to **their** own personnel file at a time mutually convenient to the employee and the Board.
 - ii) Examination by an employee of the contents of **their** personnel file shall be made only in the presence of a person authorized by the employer.
 - iii) An employee shall be provided with a copy of all letters of reprimand and censure at the time of filing. The Union shall also be provided with a copy of all such documents, unless requested by the employee in writing, to the contrary.
 - iv) The Board shall not introduce as evidence in any grievance or arbitration any document which has been withheld from the employee.
 - v) An employee shall have the right to respond, in writing, to any document contained in **their** file and such written response shall become part of the employee's file.
 - vi) An employee shall not remove any document from **their** personnel file, and may not request copies of any items in the file. However, in order for the Union to represent properly, an employee who has instituted a grievance pursuant to Article 7 of this Agreement, the Union shall be given access to the employee's personnel file, in the

presence of a person authorized by the Board, and shall be provided with a copy of any pertinent document in the file.

5.6 Termination of Employment

a) Notice

If the Board desires to terminate the engagement of any employee who has successfully completed **their** probation period, it shall give **them** one (1) months' notice, or one (1) month's pay in lieu of notice, except where the Board terminated such engagement for cause. An employee voluntarily leaving the service of the Board shall give to the Board one (1) months' notice of such intention.

b) <u>Dismissal or Suspension</u>

Employees may, for cause, be suspended or dismissed without notice, and subject to Statutory Regulations be deprived of benefits they would otherwise receive on retirement; provided, however, that any employee suspended or dismissed with or without notice and/or benefits, shall have the right to appeal such suspension or dismissal by following the established grievance procedure set out in Article 7 of this Agreement.

c) Abandonment of Position

An employee shall lose seniority and be terminated from employment by the Board if absent from work for a period of ten (10) working days, if such absence is without sufficient cause, and without prior notification to the Board.

The Board shall advise the employee by registered letter that if the employee does not respond within the above ten (10) days, **they** shall be terminated.

5.7 Termination Pay

Employees terminated from the service of the Board by way of non-culpable termination shall be paid three (3) days' pay for each calendar year of service up to and including the sixth (6th) year, and four (4) days' pay per calendar year of service for the seventh (7th) and subsequent years. Part-time service shall be calculated on a pro-rata basis. Salary on which termination pay is calculated shall be based on the employee's salary at the time of **their** termination.

The employee may elect to receive termination pay at any time up to thirty (30) days following receipt of notice of layoff. An employee who elects to receive termination pay shall forfeit all seniority rights and rights to recall pursuant to Article 5.3 of this Agreement.

It is agreed and understood that any employee who is terminated from the service of the Board for non-culpable reasons may elect to receive termination pay pursuant to this section or to receive any Service Recognition and Retirement Payments which may have accrued to the benefit of such employee pursuant to Article 6.21 and 6.22 of this Agreement, but not both.

5.8 Volunteers

- a) The Board agrees that volunteers will not be used to replace CUPE employees who are laid off nor will the use of volunteers result in the layoff of employees.
- b) Services of the type currently provided by volunteers will remain in place unless their future use causes the results specified in (a) above.

ARTICLE 6 - BENEFITS

6.1 Benefit Entitlements

- a) Regular Full-Time Employees, Regular Part-Time Employees and Full-Time School-Term Employees shall be entitled to all benefits provided by this Agreement. Such entitlement shall be retroactive to the initial date of employment.
- b) <u>Part-Time School-Term Employees</u> who have successfully completed the prescribed period of probation and who are promoted or transferred to positions which involve Regular Full-Time, Regular Part-Time, or Full-Time School-Term employment, shall be entitled to all benefits provided by this Agreement from the date of promotion or transfer.
- c) <u>Temporary Full-Time Employees</u> who are in an assignment that will exceed six (6) months, shall be entitled to the same options as 6.1.d). or receive 14% in lieu of benefits.
- d) Probationary Employees shall be entitled to only the following benefits:
 - i) Those employees hired to positions which involve Regular Full-Time, Regular Part-Time, or Full-Time School-Term employment:

Up to three (3) months of service: Statutory Holidays

Over three (3) months of service:

Annual Vacations
Group Life Insurance
Sick Leave
Jury Duty Leave

- ii) Those employees hired to positions which involve Part-Time School-Term or Casual employment shall be entitled to only those benefits which accrue to employees of these general classifications.
- e) Part-Time School-Term Employees, subject to the provisions of paragraph (f) of this Article, shall be entitled in lieu of all other benefits provided by this Agreement to a payment equal to fourteen (14) percent of their gross earnings during the preceding school term. Such payments shall be made as follows:
 - i) Payable by April 15th of each year, based upon the gross earnings of the employee during the period commencing January 1st and ending at the commencement of the Spring Break.
 - ii) Payable by July 15th of each year, based upon the gross earnings of the employee during the period commencing the first Monday following Spring Break and ending at the commencement of the Summer recess.
 - iii) Payable by January 15th of each year, based upon the gross earnings of the employee during the period commencing with the beginning of the Fall Term and ending on December 31st.
 - iv) Part-Time School-Term Employees who terminate their services in mid-term shall receive fourteen (14) percent benefit with their final pay cheques.
- f) Part-Time School-Term Employees who regularly work sixteen (16) or more hours a week shall be entitled to all benefits provided by this Agreement and may make an immediate choice between receiving the payment specified in paragraph (e) of this Article or receiving benefits coverage.

Part-Time School-TermEmployees who have not elected benefits coverage and who have six (6) months service in a Part-Time School Term position may request to receive benefits by notifying the Human Resources Department and completing all documentation for such benefits by the 15th of any month. Such coverage and benefit entitlements shall be dated from the first day of the following month.

It is understood that election for benefits will be accepted only in accordance with this section, and only an employee whose hours have fallen below the sixteen (16) hours per week minimum requirement will be permitted to return to the payments in lieu, as provided in paragraph (**e**) above.

Where a Part-Time School-Term Employee opts for benefits coverage, it is agreed that:

i) The Board shall contribute its contractual portion of premiums prorated by the proportion of regular full-time weekly hours which the Part-Time School-Term Employee normally works, in accordance with the following table (see next page):

PREMIUM CONTRIBUTIONS BASED UPON SHARING RATIO FOR FULL TIME EMPLOYEES

Standard	% of Full	Dental, EHC	Dental, EHC		GWL
Hours Per	Time	Employer's		Employer's	Employee's
Week	Employment	Share	Share	Share	Share 10%
		100% of Total	0% of Total	90% of Total	of Total
16.00		45.50			
16.50					
17.00					
17.50					
18.00				46.35	
18.50		53.00	47.00	47.70	52.30
19.00			45.50		
19.50					
20.00	57.00	57.00	43.00	51.30	48.70
20.50		58.50			
21.00	60.00	60.00	40.00	54.00	
21.50					
22.00		63.00			43.30
22.50	64.50	64.50	35.50	58.05	41.95
23.00	65.50	65.50	34.50	58.95	41.05
23.10	66.00	66.00	34.00	59.40	40.60
23.50	67.00	67.00	33.00	60.30	39.70
24.00	68.50	68.50	31.50	61.65	38.35
24.50				63.00	
25.00		71.50			35.65
25.50					
25.75	73.57	73.57	26.43	66.21	33.79
26.00	74.50	74.50	25.50	67.05	32.95
26.50	75.50	75.50	24.50	67.95	32.05
27.00	77.00	77.00	23.00	69.30	30.70
27.50					
28.00	80.00	80.00	20.00	72.00	28.00
28.25	80.71	80.71	19.29	72.64	27.36
28.50	81.50	81.50	18.50	73.35	26.65
29.00	83.00	83.00	17.00	74.70	25.30
29.50	84.50	84.50	15.50	76.05	23.95
30.00	85.50	85.50	14.50	76.95	23.05
30.50	87.00	87.00	13.00	78.30	21.70
30.85	88.14	88.14	11.86	79.33	20.67
31.00	88.50	88.50	11.50	79.65	20.35
31.50	90.00	90.00	10.00	81.00	19.00

32.00	91.50	91.50	8.50	82.35	17.65
32.50	93.00	93.00	7.00	83.70	16.30
33.00	94.50	94.50	5.50	85.05	14.95
33.50	95.50	95.50	4.50	85.95	14.05
34.00	97.00	97.00	3.00	87.30	12.70
34.50	98.50	98.50	1.50	88.65	11.35
35.00	100.00	100.00	0.00	90.00	10.00

For School Term Employees, benefit premiums for July and August are paid 100% by the employee and are paid in advance from the last pay cheque of the school term.

- ii) Except where otherwise specified in this Agreement, all noncontributory benefits for which the employee qualifies shall be paid to the employee only during those periods in which the employee would normally be required to work.
- iii) Where the standard number of hours worked of any employee who has opted for benefits is decreased to less than sixteen (16) hours a week, participation in the benefits package shall be immediately terminated and payments shall be made to the employee in accordance with Section (e) of this Article.

Changes in the Municipal Pension Act require any employee who is enrolled in the Pension Plan to continue participation in the Plan until **their** employment is terminated. In such case, the Board and the employee will each continue to pay their required contribution to the Pension Plan.

- iv) With the exception of participation in the Municipal Pension Plan which shall be voluntary for Part-Time School-Term Employees, voluntary or compulsory participation in all benefits shall be in accordance with the respective provisions of this Agreement.
- v) Benefits shall accrue from September 1, 1981, for all eligible employees on staff as at June 30, 1981, and benefits for all employees hired subsequent to June 30, 1981, shall accrue from the date on which the employee is provided with benefits pursuant to this section. It is expressly understood that service before September 1, 1981, or before the date on which the employee is provided with benefits pursuant to this section shall not be recognized for purposes on any of the benefits or perquisites of this Agreement, other than Seniority Rights.

- vi) The date that an employee is eligible for, and starts on the Benefit Package is the Benefit Start Date. All time frames for waiting period, accumulation of Annual Vacation (Article 6.2, Annual Vacations; Article 6.3 Supplementary Vacations), accumulation of Sick Leave (Article 6.5 Sick Leave, WCB and LTD), (6.22 Service Recognition Pay and Retirement Service Pay) are calculated from the Benefit Start Date. Service spent in receipt of 14% in lieu of benefits and time spent on unpaid absence in excess of three (3) months are not counted for these purposes.
- g) <u>Casual Employees</u>, upon cessation of employment, shall be entitled in lieu of all other benefits provided by this Agreement to a payment equal to fourteen (14) percent of their gross earnings during their period of employment.

6.2 Annual Vacations

- a) Annual vacation shall be granted to each employee for service with the Board during the period January 1st to December 31st. Subject to the provisions of Section 6.2(b) of this Article, vacations shall be taken within the calendar year in which they are earned at a time to be arranged with the employee's Department Head or designate. Employees may choose to take vacation days during spring and winter breaks as designated in the local school calendar.
- b) Employees who are entitled to four (4) weeks or more of annual vacation shall be permitted to defer any portion of their annual entitlement in excess of three (3) weeks until subsequent years, providing only that the maximum deferred vacation which an employee may accumulate at any time shall be four (4) weeks.
- c) The annual vacation entitlement of an employee shall be as follows:
 - i) New Employee's Vacation. A Regular Full-Time or a Regular Part-Time employee who has less than one calendar year of service with the Board as of December 31st, shall receive one (1) vacation day with full pay for each month of service, to a maximum of ten (10) days in that initial calendar year.
 - ii) <u>3-Week Vacation.</u> A Regular Full-Time or a Regular Part-Time employee who has completed the first calendar year as at December 31st, shall start to receive three (3) weeks of annual vacation with full pay commencing in the second (2nd) year.

- iii) <u>4-Week Vacation.</u> A Regular Full-Time or a Regular Part-Time employee who has completed seven (7) years of service as at December 31st, shall start to receive four (4) weeks of annual vacation with full pay in the eighth (8th) year.
- iv) <u>5-Week Vacation.</u> A Regular Full-Time or a Regular Part-Time employee who has completed fifteen (15) years of service as at December 31st, shall start to receive five (5) weeks of annual vacation with full pay in the sixteenth (16th) year.
- v) <u>6-Week Vacation.</u> A Regular Full-Time or a Regular Part-Time employee who has completed twenty-two (22) years of service as at December 31st, shall start to receive six (6) weeks of annual vacation with full pay during the twenty-third (23rd) year.
- vi) As vacations are not fully earned until December 31st of each year, it is agreed and understood that any employee leaving the service of the Board after having taken vacations in accordance with the above schedule, shall be indebted to the Board on the basis of one-twelfth (1/12th) of **their** vacation entitlement for each month or portion of a month greater than one-half (1/2) for that period from the date of termination to December 31st.

vii) Vacation in the Year of Retirement

Any Regular Employee:

- a) Who has reached minimum retirement age as defined by the Municipal Pension Act and has completed at least ten (10) years of pensionable service in accordance with and as defined in the said Act; or
- b) Whose age and years of service with the Board total eighty (80) years or more, shall be entitled to receive full annual vacation on termination of **their** employment for any reason. All other employees who leave the service of the Board shall be entitled to vacation in accordance with Section 6.2 (vi).
- viii) Alternate Days (Statutory Holidays). When a Statutory Holiday occurs while an employee is on Annual Vacation, a vacation day will not be deducted from the employee's allocation for each holiday so occurring.

ix) Full-Time School-Term and Eligible Part-Time School-Term Employees. In lieu of paid vacations, a Full-Time School-Term or an eligible Part-Time School-Term Employee shall be paid a percentage of **their** gross earnings in accordance with the following schedule:

Payable by April 15th, in each year based upon the gross earnings of the employee, for hours worked from January 1st to the commencement of Spring Break, and payable by July 15th, in each year based upon the gross earnings of the employee, during the period commencing the first Monday following Spring Break and ending at the commencement of the summer recess:

As at June 30th,

- less than one (1) year of service	4%
- more than one (1) year of service	6%
- more than seven (7) years of service	8%
- more than fifteen (15) years of service	10%
- more than twenty-two (22) years of service	12%

Payable by January 15th, in each year based upon the gross earnings of the employee during the period commencing at the beginning of the Fall Term and ending December 31st.

As at December 31st,

- less than one (1) year of service	4%
- more than one (1) year of service	6%
- more than seven (7) years of service	8%
- more than fifteen (15) years of service	10%
- more than twenty-two (22) years of service	12%

Full-Time School-Term or eligible Part-Time School-Term Employees who are participating in the benefits plan have the option to elect, once per year by June 30th, to receive vacation pay in each pay period.

6.3 Supplementary Vacations

Supplementary vacations in addition to the basic annual vacation entitlement shall be granted to Regular Full-Time, Regular Part-Time, Full-Time School-Term and eligible Part-Time School-Term Employees with more than ten (10) years' service with the Board. Supplementary vacations shall be taken at a time to be arranged with the employee's Department Head or designate.

- a) Regular Full-Time and Regular Part-Time Employees shall be granted supplementary vacations in accordance with the provisions of Schedule "B" of this Agreement. It is clearly understood that employees become entitled to the benefits on the first day of January in the appropriate calendar year, and that such entitlement is terminated prior to the end of the period to which the entitlement applies.
- b) <u>Full-Time School-Term and Eligible Part-Time School-Term Employees</u> shall be paid one (1) day's pay for each day of supplementary vacation entitlement, as provided in Schedule "B," at the employee's daily rate in effect on the first day of January in the appropriate calendar year.
- c) <u>Entitlement.</u> Each employee upon commencing **their** eleventh, sixteenth, twenty-first, twenty-sixth, thirty-first, thirty-sixth, forty-first or forty-sixth calendar year of service in any year shall thereupon become entitled to one (1) calendar week of supplementary vacation, as defined in paragraphs (1) and (b) of this Section.

A summary of Vacation Entitlement and Supplementary Vacation appears in Schedule "B" of this Collective Agreement.

6.4 Statutory Holidays

- a) Subject to paragraph (c) hereof, employees of the Board, other than ineligible Part-Time School-Term and Casual Employees shall be paid for Statutory Holidays which shall be defined as including the following:
 - New Year's Day, Family Day, Good Friday, Easter Monday, Victoria Day, Canada Day, British Columbia Day, Labour Day, National Day for Truth and Reconciliation, Thanksgiving Day, Remembrance Day, Christmas Day, Boxing Day; and any other day proclaimed by the Federal, Provincial or Municipal Government. These holidays are granted subject to adequate arrangements covering the firing of boilers in extraordinary weather conditions.
- b) <u>Alternate Days.</u> It is agreed that, when a Statutory Holiday occurs on a Saturday or a Sunday, and where another day is not declared as the day for the observance of that particular Statutory Holiday, then an alternate day with pay shall be granted the employees; the alternate day chosen, to be at the discretion of the Board.
- c) <u>Full-Time School-Term and Eligible Part-Time School-Term Employees</u> shall be paid for all the Statutory Holidays enumerated in paragraph (a) hereof with the exception of Canada Day, British Columbia Day and Labour Day. However, where any such employee works for a full shift immediately

prior to and following Canada Day, or British Columbia Day, or Labour Day, the Board shall make payment for such Statutory Holidays.

6.5 Sick Leave and WorkSafeBC

- a) <u>Accumulation Method.</u> In the event of sickness, all Regular Full-Time Employees, Regular Part-Time Employees, Full-Time School-Term Employees and Eligible Part-Time School-Term Employees shall be granted the following sick leave with pay annually:
 - i) Where an employee has not used such sick leave or only a portion thereof, such unused portion shall accumulate for the employee's future benefit to a maximum of two hundred (200) working days.
 - ii) During the first calendar year of employment, employees shall be credited with Sick Leave on the basis of one and two-thirds (1 2/3) days for each calendar month worked, retroactive to the starting date of employment. Such sick leave entitlement during the first calendar year of service or portion thereof shall not exceed twenty (20) working days, except as hereinafter provided.
 - iii) The Board may, at its discretion, grant further periods of Sick Leave with pay in special circumstances.
- b) <u>Compulsory Quarantine.</u> Where an employee is under compulsory quarantine, such employee shall continue to receive **their** regular salary and it is understood and agreed that there shall not be a reduction from Sick Leave accumulation for such enforced absence.
- c) Medical Certificates. In cases of Sick Leave, the Department Head or designate may grant leave of absence with pay for a period up to five (5) days to employees with three (3) months' seniority, without requiring the production of a Medical Certificate, providing they are satisfied such absence is caused by actual illness and providing the employee does not exceed the number of days' Sick Leave to which they are entitled under this clause.
- d) <u>Workers' Compensation Income Make-Up.</u> Any Regular Full-Time, Regular Part-Time, Full-Time School-Term or eligible Part-Time School-Term Employee whose claim for Workers' Compensation temporary disability benefits is accepted by WorkSafeBC, shall assign **their** compensation cheque to the Board, which shall pay the employee **their** full regular salary. In the event WorkSafeBC rejects a claim or during a period of WorkSafeBC delay prior to accepting one, the Board shall pay full regular

- salary to the employee for as long as the employee has sick leave, vacation or overtime credits.
- e) <u>Family Leave</u>. Employees shall be entitled up to five (5) days in a calendar year from their sick leave bank for the purpose of attending to a member of the immediate family, as defined in Article 6.6(a), who is ill.
- f) Long Term Disability (LTD)
 LTD insurance, funded by the Public Education Benefits Trust (PEBT),
 provides income protection in the event of an illness or injury related
 disability by the PEBT LTD plan.
- g) Subrogation/Recovery from a Third Party
 At the employee's discretion, if they wish to repay any lost sick time received
 by a third party claim or court award they should contact Human Resources
 for information and assistance with the process.

6.6 Compassionate Leave

- a) In the event that an employee (other than a casual employee) suffers bereavement or serious illness in **their** immediate family, in which recovery is in doubt, **they** shall be granted a leave of absence by the Board for up to a total of five (5) working days, for such immediate family member, and shall suffer no loss of salary or accrued sick leave by reason of such absence. Where the funeral or service does not occur within the five (5) days, one (1) additional day shall be granted. For the purpose of this Article, immediate family is defined as spouse, child, son-in-law or daughter-in-law, parent, sibling, parent of spouse, grandparent, grandchild, ward or any other dependent relative living in the same household.
- b) For regular employees, under extenuating circumstances or for culturally varied observances for funerals and burials, the Board may also grant additional leave of absence with or without pay at the written request of the employee.
- c) Upon application, leave may be granted with pay for one (1) day to attend the funeral of a friend or relative who is not a member of the immediate family.
- d) Where an employee uses up their compassionate leave prior to the death of a relative, an additional one (1) day without loss of pay will be granted to attend the funeral or service.
- e) Requests for leave under paragraphs (a), (b), (c), and (d) above shall be submitted to the employee's Department Head or designate who will

determine and approve the number of days required in each case. Approval of leave under this Article shall not be unreasonably denied.

f) An employee who qualifies for emergency leave without loss of pay pursuant to (a) above, shall be granted such leave when on annual vacation, by providing appropriate documentation to the Human Resources Department. An employee who is absent on sick leave with or without pay or who is absent on Workers' Compensation, shall not be entitled to such emergency leave without loss of pay.

6.7 Jury Duty

In the event an employee is required to serve on a jury, or is called for jury duty, or to act as a witness, such employee shall continue to receive **their** regular pay. Any remuneration received for such duty will be remitted to the Employer, except transportation costs, parking fees and meal allowances not reimbursed by the Employer.

6.8 Leave (Education)

The Board agrees to grant leave of absence with pay to any employee taking a course of study which requires **their** absence from employment with the Board, provided such course relates to the School Board duties of such employee and has been approved by the Superintendent or designate.

6.9 Maternity and Parental Leave

a) Leave Entitlement

i) An employee shall be granted, upon request, maternity and/or parental leave without pay in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act*. The duration of the leave may be up to seventeen (17) consecutive weeks of maternity leave and up to sixty-one (61) consecutive weeks of parental leave, all without pay. The parental leave must immediately follow the maternity leave.

In the event the Employment Standards Act increases the number of weeks available, the employee will be entitled to the additional weeks. In the event the Employment Standards Act decreases the number of weeks available, the employee will continue to be entitled to the number of weeks set out above.

ii) In the event the gestational parent dies or is totally disabled, an employee who is the other legal parent of the child shall be entitled to both maternity/parental leave without pay.

Non-Gestational Parent and Adoptive Parent

An employee who is the non-gestational parent or, the adoptive parent shall be entitled to up to sixty-two (62) consecutive weeks of parental leave without pay per the Employment Standards Act. The employee shall take the leave within seventy-eight (78) weeks of the child's birth or date the child comes within the care and custody of the employee.

Extensions – Special Circumstances

An employee shall be entitled to extend the **maternity** leave by up to an additional six (6) consecutive weeks' leave without pay where a physician certifies the employee is unable to return to work for medical reasons related to the birth.

An employee shall be entitled to extend the parental leave by up to an additional five (5) consecutive weeks without pay where the child is at least six (6) months of age before coming into the employee's care and custody and the child is certified as suffering from a physical, psychological or emotional condition.

In no case shall the combined maternity/parental leaves exceed eighteen (18) months or the maximum provided for under the Employment Standards Act, whichever is greater, plus special circumstances extensions following the commencement of the leave.

- b) <u>Maternity Leave and Supplemental Employment Benefits Plan (SEB Plan) commencing July 1, 2024</u>
 - i) Upon the registration of this Maternity Leave SEB plan, an employee who is currently on the district benefit plan will be eligible to receive SEB Plan benefits for a maximum of sixteen (16) weeks providing they are eligible for and in receipt of El Maternity benefits. Upon receipt of adequate proof of eligibility for El Payments including information from Service Canada confirming the weekly El Payment amount:
 - (1) Seventy-five percent (75%) of the employee's current weekly earnings of the El waiting period to a maximum of one (1) week; and

- (2) The difference between seventy-five percent (75%) of the employee's current weekly earnings and the amount of the El benefits paid to the employee for the period the employee is in receipt El maternity leave benefits, to a maximum of fifteen (15) weeks. SEB Plan payments for 10-month employees will not be paid for dates that would not be worked per their 10-month position.
- ii) Upon completion of Maternity and Parental Leave, an employee who voluntarily leaves employment with the Board within six (6) months of active employment will be responsible for the repayment of any maternity leave SEB Plan benefits paid by the Board to the employee. The repayment of the top-up shall be due and fully paid to the Board within twelve (12) months of voluntarily leaving employment. A repayment plan shall be agreed upon between the employee and the Board.
- c) Notice Requirements and Commencement of Leave
 - An employee who requests parental leave for the adoption or caring of a child shall be required to provide proof of adoption or birth of the child.
 - ii) An employee shall provide written notice to the Human Resources Department, at least four (4) weeks in advance, of the intended commencement date of the **maternity** and/or parental leave. (In the case of adoption of a child, the employee shall provide as much notice as possible).
 - iii) In order to request a maternity leave, the employee shall present a certificate from a duly qualified medical practitioner stating that birth will take place on or about a specified date.
 - iv) An employee on pregnancy leave or parental leave shall provide four (4) weeks' notice prior to the date **they intend** to return to work.
 - v) An employee who wishes to return to work within six (6) weeks following the actual date of the birth is required to provide a certificate from a medical practitioner stating the employee is able to return to work.

vi) Where a pregnant employee gives birth before requesting maternity leave or before commencing maternity leave, their maternity leave will be deemed to have started on the date the employee gave birth.

d) Return to Work

On resuming employment, an employee shall be reinstated in **their** previous or a comparable position and for the purposes of benefits and vacation entitlement (but not for public holidays or sick leave) **maternity**/parental leave shall be counted as service. Vacation pay shall be pro-rated in accordance with the duration of the leave and an employee may elect not to take that portion of vacation leave which is unpaid.

e) Sick Leave

- i) An employee on **maternity** leave or parental leave shall not be entitled to sick leave during the period of leave.
- ii) Subject to paragraph **(e)**(i), an employee on **maternity** leave or parental leave who has notified the Human Resources Department of **their** intention to return to work pursuant to paragraph **(c)**(v), and who subsequently suffers any illness or disability which prevents **the employee** from returning to work as scheduled, whether or not such illness or disability is related to pregnancy, shall be entitled to sick leave benefits commencing on the first day on which **the employee** would otherwise have returned to work.

f) Benefits

- i) Dental, EHC, and Life Insurance benefits shall continue uninterrupted during the period of time the employee is on **maternity** and/or parental leave provided that the employee makes arrangements prior to commencing the leave to pay **the employee's** share of the benefit premiums for that period where the premiums are cost-shared. Where an employee makes arrangements to continue benefits coverage, all benefits named in this paragraph shall continue.
- ii) Pension contributions will cease during the period of the leave unless the employee makes arrangements to pay the contributions pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Pension Act.

6.10 Paternity Leave

A Department Head or designate may grant an employee three (3) days leave of absence, without loss of pay, on the occasion of the birth of the employee's child. The Human Resources Department should be officially notified that such leave has been granted.

6.11 Adoption Leave

- a) An employee may make application to the Human Resources Department for a leave of absence with pay for a maximum of three (3) days for the purpose of attending to the adoption of a child. The leave may be extended without pay to a maximum of twelve (12) months. Such request will not be unreasonably withheld. It is agreed and understood that any employee choosing to request Adoption Leave may elect to receive Adoption Leave pursuant to this section or elect Parental Leave pursuant to Article 6.9, but not both.
- b) When adoption leave is taken, the employee must prepay to the Board the total cost of premiums for benefits to which the employee is entitled for the period of the leave. On resuming employment an employee shall be reinstated in **their** previous or a comparable position and for the purposes of benefits and vacation entitlement (but not for statutory holidays or sick leave) adoption leave will be counted as service. Vacation pay will be prorated by the period of the leave and an employee may elect not to take that portion of **their** vacation which is unpaid.

6.12 Leaves of Absence for Official Union Representatives

- a) In the event of discussion being considered necessary by either party during the term of this Agreement relating to rates of pay, hours of work or other working conditions, it is agreed that either party may require the other party to meet in order to carry on such discussion.
- b) All applications for leave of absence whether with or without pay shall be granted only to those official Union representatives whose absence in any specific case does not interfere with the operation of the Board. Requests for such leave of absence shall nevertheless be given precedence over any other applications for leave on the same day.
- c) With respect to any leave of absence granted without pay, the Board shall continue to pay each representative's regular wage or salary and shall render an account to the Union for such amount, including the Board's contribution on behalf of such representative for group life insurance coverage, medical coverage, sickness and accident insurance coverage,

- and Municipal Pension. The Union shall then reimburse the Board to the amount of the account rendered within sixty (60) days.
- d) Upon application to, and upon receiving the permission of the Superintendent or designate in each specific case, official representatives of the Union may be granted time off for the purpose of collective bargaining with the Board or for the purpose of settling a grievance as outlined elsewhere in this Agreement. Not more than three (3) such official representatives shall be granted leave of absence without loss of pay for the time so spent. Further official representatives may be granted leave of absence without pay.
- e) Upon application to, and upon receiving the permission of the Superintendent or designate in each specific case, an official representative of the Union may be granted time off to attend one (1) executive meeting of the Union each month, to a maximum of four (4) hours each month without loss of pay.
- f) Upon application to, and upon receiving the permission of the Superintendent or designate in each specific case, official representatives of the Union shall be granted leave of absence without pay for the purpose of attending the national and CUPE BC conventions, the annual convention of the BC Federation of Labour, and the biennial convention of the Canadian Labour Congress.
- g) Upon application to, and upon receiving the permission of the Superintendent or designate in each specific case, official representatives of the Union may be granted leave of absence without pay for the purpose of transacting other business in connection with matters affecting members of the bargaining unit or in connection with other matters affecting the Canadian Union of Public Employees.
- h) The Board agrees that any full-time officer of the Union who is on leave of absence for the purpose of performing their duties as an officer of the Union shall not lose their seniority in the service of the Board and shall continue to accumulate seniority while they are performing such duties. Upon retirement from their duties as an officer of the Union, such former Union officer shall be entitled to return to a position within the class of positions to which their former position was allocated and for which they are qualified if any position within such class is held by an employee with less seniority than their own. If all of the positions within such class are held by employees with more seniority than their own or have been abolished, such former Union officer shall be entitled to return to any other vacant position for which they are qualified.

- The Board agrees that any employee who might be elected or appointed to a full-time position with the Canadian Union of Public Employees, the Vancouver and District Labour Council, the BC Federation of Labour or the Canadian Labour Congress shall be granted leave of absence without pay and shall not lose **their** seniority in the service of the Board while on such leave of absence, it being understood that seniority does not accrue during the leave of absence without pay. Upon termination of such period of office, such an employee may return to the first vacant position for which **they are** qualified in the service of the Board.
- j) The Union shall provide the Board with a list of its elected officers, job stewards and any other official representatives. The list shall be kept current by the Union at all times.
- When an employee is elected or appointed to one of the positions referred to in this Article, the Board shall provide replacement coverage while such an employee is away from their regular work when the replacement employee is reimbursed by CUPE.

6.13 Personal Leave

An employee shall be granted annually, upon five (5) working days' notice, leave of absence without pay for up to three (3) days to conduct personal business, including personal court appearances. Normally, this leave will not be taken in conjunction with the Christmas/Spring Break, or annual vacation.

Employees may apply to the Human Resources Department for a personal leave of absence without pay for up to a maximum of twelve (12) months. Twenty (20) working days' notice is required for a planned leave. Such leave shall not be unreasonably denied; the employee shall have the right to return to **their** former position at the end date of the approved leave. During an authorized personal leave an employee may elect to continue benefit coverage, where allowable by the benefit providers. In such case, the employee shall either prepay or provide the Board with monthly post-dated cheques for the employer and employee portions of the benefit costs for the period of the leave.

Personal leaves are not intended for vacation purposes.

6.14 Citizenship Leave

The Board agrees to grant, upon five (5) working days' notice, one (1) day leave of absence with pay on the occasion of the employee's attendance at an official ceremony to receive the employee's Canadian Citizenship.

6.15 Leave of Absence for Public Office, Amateur Competitions, and Community Service

a) Amateur Competitions

Leave without pay shall be granted for preparation and participation in a provincial, national or international competition to a maximum of five (5) days.

b) Public Office

When an employee is nominated as a candidate and wishes to contest a municipal, provincial or federal election, the employee shall be given leave of absence without pay during the election campaign. Should the employee be elected as a Member of Parliament or as a Member of the Legislative Assembly, the employee shall be granted leave to the end of the term of office. Further, employees elected or appointed to municipal or regional district offices or public boards shall be granted leave of absence without pay for each day of absence.

c) Community Service/Charitable Organizations

Employees serving on the Boards of community service, philanthropic and/or charitable organizations such as the United Way may be granted leave of absence with or without pay upon application to the Superintendent or designate. Approval of such leave of absence with or without pay shall not be unreasonably withheld.

6.16 Same Sex Benefit Coverage

An employee who co-habits with a person of the same sex, and who promotes such person as a spouse (partner), and who has done so for a period of not less than twelve (12) months, will be eligible to have the person covered as a spouse for purposes of benefits as specified in 6.17 and 6.18 below.

6.17 Extended Health Care Plan and Provincial Healthcare Coverage

a) The Board agrees to pay 100% of the premium rates for MSP* and the Extended Health Care Plan for employees with six (6) months seniority.

(*see Letter of Understanding <u>Medical Services Plan of British Columbia – MSP</u>)

6.18 Dental Plan

The parties agree to provide a dental plan for all Regular Full-Time, Regular Part-Time, Full-Time School-Term, and eligible Part-Time Employees who have

completed six (6) months of continuous service on the following basis or such other basis as may be mutually agreed to.

Participation in the dental plan shall be compulsory for all employees, with the exception of those employees who provide proof of coverage through their spouse.

- a) Basic Dental Service (Plan A) paying for 80% of the approved schedule of fees.
- b) Prosthetics, Crowns and Bridges (Plan B) paying for 50% of the approved schedule of fees.
- c) Orthodontics (Plan C) paying for 50% of the approved schedule of fees. Effective July 1, 1998, the current level of coverage will be improved to \$2,500 maximum lifetime reimbursement (on \$5,000 or more of expenditures) for members and dependants.
- d) Effective January 1, 1999, the Board shall pay 100% of the premiums for the Dental Plan.
- e) The Board may elect to enter into a contract for a dental plan on a group basis with other Municipal Employers, provided that accounting will be carried out on an individual unit basis.

6.19 Group Life Insurance

- All employees of the Board shall contribute to the Group Life Insurance Plan.
- b) Coverage shall be in accordance with the policy of insurance and shall be based upon one and one-half (1 1/2) times basic annual salary, computed to the next highest \$1,000.
- c) Effective July 1, 1998, the Board shall pay 90% of the premium rates for the Group Life Insurance Plan. Employees shall pay 10% of the premiums by payroll deductions.
- d) Effective July 1, 1997, the Board agrees to administer optional group life insurance coverage for employees with premiums paid through payroll deduction. The total cost shall be paid by employees.

6.20 Municipal Pension Plan

All full time employees shall become members of the Municipal Pension Plan (MPP) upon attaining eligibility to do so pursuant to the MPP rules. Part-Time employees shall be offered enrolment in the MPP pursuant to the MPP rules.

6.21 Retirement

All Board employees shall be retired in accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Pension Act, and on retiring shall receive twenty-one and three quarters (21 3/4) days' pay, as defined in Article 6.22, and on retiring shall be entitled to annual vacation in accordance with Article 6.2 (c)(vii), of this Agreement.

6.22 Service Recognition Pay and Retirement Service Pay

It is agreed and understood that Service Recognition Pay shall be paid to all employees of the Board on the following basis:

- a) Employees leaving the service of the Board other than on retirement and who have completed ten (10) years of service shall be paid Service Recognition Pay at the rate of two (2) days' pay for each year of service. "Death in service" and "resignation" are covered by this Article.
- b) Employees retiring from the Board and who have completed five (5) years of service shall be paid Retirement Service Pay at the rate of four (4) days' pay for each year of service with the Board.

For the purpose of Service Recognition Pay and Retirement Service Pay the following definitions shall apply:

<u>"Retirement"</u> shall be defined as an employee leaving the service of the Board at any time following attainment of **their** minimum retirement age as established under the Municipal Pension Act, or upon receipt of a disability allowance in accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Pension Act.

"Service" shall be defined as the total of all continuous service with the Board, other than as a "Part-Time School-Term" employee (unless a benefits election has been made in accordance with the provisions of Article 6.1 (e) of this Agreement) or as a "Casual" employee.

"<u>Days' Pay"</u> shall be defined as pay for one (1) day determined by: multiplying the current equivalent full-time daily rate of the classification in which the employee is regularly employed <u>BY</u> the average percentage of time regularly worked by the employee during the preceding ten (10) year period of service with the Board.

The following table shall be used in the computation of Retirement and Service Recognition Pay for clerical employees and aides engaged on less than a full-time basis:

Standard Hours Worked per Week	Percentage of Full-Time	
16	45.5	
16.5	47.0	
17	48.5	
17.5	50.0	
18	51.5	
18.5	53.0	
19	54.5	
19.5	55.5	
20	57.0	
20.5	58.5	
21	60.0	
21.5	61.5	
22	63.0	
22.5	64.5	
23	65.5	
23.5	67.0	
24 24.5	68.5	
25	70.0 71.5	
25.75	73.5	
26	74.5	
26.5	75.5	
27	77.0	
27.5	78.5	
28	80.0	
28.25	80.7	
28.5	81.5	
29	83.0	
29.5	84.5	
30	85.5	
30.85	88.1	
31	88.5	
31.5	90.0	
32	91.5	
32.5	93.0	
33	94.5	
33.5	95.5	
34	97.0	
34.5	98.5	
35.0	100.0	

6.23 Vehicle Allowance and Business Insurance

Employees who are authorized by their Department Head or designate to use their private automobiles in the performance of their duties shall be reimbursed as follows:

a) Kilometrage Allowance – current provincial rate

Maintenance Trades employees who are required to use their vehicles consistently for carrying heavy loads to job sites shall be paid an additional six (6) cents a kilometre over the current mileage rate.

b) <u>Business Insurance</u> - \$17.00 a month

It is agreed and understood that reimbursement for business insurance shall apply only to those employees who are authorized by the Board to drive their vehicles more than 1,600 kilometres a year on School District business and who submit documentary evidence of having purchased business insurance coverage.

6.24 RRSP Plan

Following the establishment of a CUPE Group RRSP Plan, the Board agrees to deduct the monthly contributions from employees authorizing their participation in the plan and to remit those monthly contributions to the designated plan trustee.

6.25 Employment Insurance

All employees shall be covered by the provisions of the Employment Insurance Act, and shall contribute thereto. The Board agrees to contribute its share in accordance with the provisions of the said Act.

6.26 Joint Benefits Trust/Government Funded Long Term Disability/Return to Work

The Parties have agreed to participate in the Public Education Benefits Trust (PEBT) and to place their dental, extended health and group life insurance coverage specified in this Article with the PEBT.

The Parties have further agreed to participate in the government funded "Core" long-term disability plan and the Joint Early Intervention Service provided through the PEBT.

6.27 Hand Tools – Maintenance Employees

- a) In any case where Trades workers or other employees are required by the Board to provide their own hand tools, and where such hand tools are broken or worn as a result of such employees carrying out their required duties and responsibilities in a proper manner, then the Board shall pay the cost of replacing such broken or worn hand tools, unless the employee is able to effect replacement without cost to **themselves** under the terms of a quarantee or warranty.
- b) The provisions of (a) above shall include tools lost on the job with the details of when the tool(s) went missing and search and find efforts being recorded on the form specified in (c)(ii) below.
- c) Following are the qualifying procedures with respect to the replacement of hand tools:
 - i) The Board will designate those positions or classes of positions whose incumbents are required to provide their own hand tools.
 - ii) Claims for replacement of any hand tool broken, worn or lost as a result of an employee carrying out **their** required duties and responsibilities in a proper manner will be made on a form which will be supplied by the Board.
 - iii) The broken or worn hand tool will be submitted at the time an employee requests a copy of the form.
 - iv) In order for a claim to be acceptable, it will have to be reported orally to the employee's designated supervisor at the earliest reasonable opportunity, and the form will have to be completed no later than the end of the working shift that day.
 - v) When a claim has been accepted, the Board will provide a tool of the same or equivalent make and quality as the tool which was broken or worn. Whenever it is considered desirable by the employee that the Board should provide **them** with a tool which is the same as that which was broken or worn, then if it is possible to purchase such replacement in the Greater Vancouver area, the Board shall provide a tool of the same make and quality.
 - vi) In the matter of adjudication of claims by the Board's supervisory staff, it is agreed that the employees will possess no right to appeal the decisions of their supervisors.

vii) In the matter of any dispute which might arise over whether or not an employee is required to provide **their** own hand tools, the provisions of the Grievance Procedure contained in Article 7 of this Agreement will apply.

<u>ARTICLE 7 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE AND ARBITRATION</u>

7.1 Procedure

During the term of this Agreement, any difference concerning the discipline, suspension or dismissal of an employee or the interpretation, application, operation, or any alleged violation of the Agreement, including any question as to whether any matter is arbitrabal, shall without stoppage of work be the subject of collective bargaining between the Union and Board and shall be finally and conclusively settled under and by the procedure described below. Time limits may be extended by mutual consent of the two parties.

- a) Step 1: The difference (or grievance) shall first be taken up by the employee and the Union representative, with the appropriate supervisor, who is not a member of the bargaining unit. This shall occur within fourteen (14) working days of the difference or grievance arising. If the difference or grievance is not settled within three (3) working days, the parties may refer it to Step 2 within seven (7) working days.
- b) <u>Step 2</u>: The grievance shall be in writing stating the particulars of the grievance and the redress sought; and shall be submitted to the Superintendent or designate. Should the Superintendent or designate be unable to settle the matter within ten (10) working days following receipt of the letter of grievance, the Union then has a further ten (10) working days to invoke Step 3.
- c) <u>Step 3</u>: The grievance shall be discussed between a Committee of the Board, the aggrieved employee, the Grievance Committee of the Union and/or the Official Representative of the Union. Failing settlement in this step within ten (10) working days, Step 4 shall be invoked.
- d) Step 4: A Board of Arbitration shall be formed to hear the grievance. Either party shall notify the other, in writing, of the name and address of its chosen representative on the Arbitration Board. After receiving such notice, the other party shall within five (5) days appoint its representative on the Arbitration Board and give notice in writing of such appointment to the other party. Such representatives shall endeavour to select a third member who shall be Chairperson. Should the representatives fail to select such third member within five (5) days from the appointment of the last representative, either party may request the Minister of Labour of the Province of British

Columbia to appoint a Chairperson. The expense and compensation of the Chairperson shall be shared equally between the parties. Within fourteen (14) days following the establishment of the Board of Arbitration, it shall report its decision on the grievance. The majority decision of the Board shall be final and binding on all persons bound by this Agreement.

e) <u>Expedited Arbitration</u>

The parties may elect, by mutual agreement, to refer a grievance to expedited arbitration and will select an arbitrator by mutual agreement. The parties will utilize the following process:

- i) Such referral may take place within fifteen (15) calendar days following the completion of Step 3.
- ii) Grievances referred to expedited arbitration shall be heard within thirty (30) calendar days of the referral.
- iii) The decision of the arbitrator shall be in writing and will be mailed to the parties within fifteen (15) calendar days of the hearing.
- iv) An arbitrator assigned to hear an expedited arbitration shall have the same powers and authority as an arbitrator appointed under 7.1 (d) above. The decision of an arbitrator shall be binding on both parties.
- v) The parties shall share equally, the cost of the fees and expenses of the arbitrator. The parties shall bear their own cost of preparation and attendance at hearings.
- vi) The parties agree that presentations of the case will be as expeditious as possible. Either party may elect to use legal counsel if they so choose.
- vii) Grievances that deal with suspensions or terminations shall not be referred to expedited arbitration unless otherwise agreed.
- viii) If, in a given case, parties elect to utilize the expedited arbitration provisions under the Labour Code, the provisions of this Article shall be rendered null and void for that case.
- f) In no event shall the Board of Arbitration have the power to alter, modify or amend any part of this Agreement in any respect.
- g) All discussions and correspondence to offers of settlement shall be without prejudice and shall not be admissible at the arbitration hearing.

h) Where a question arises as to the general application or interpretation of the Collective Agreement, the Board or the Union may elect to file a grievance at Step 3 of the grievance procedure.

7.2 Wrongful Dismissal

Where under Section 7.1 an Arbitration Board finds that an employee has been dismissed, suspended or otherwise disciplined for other than proper cause, such Arbitration Board may:

- a) Direct the Board to reinstate the employee and pay to the employee a sum equal to **their** wages lost by reason of **their** dismissal, suspension, or other discipline, or such lesser sum as, in the opinion of the Arbitration Board, is fair and reasonable, or;
- b) Make such other order as it considers fair and reasonable, having regard to the terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 8 – TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

8.1 Notice of Change

The Board will give to the Union, in writing, at least one hundred and twenty (120) days' notice of any intended Technological Change. Technological Change means any changes in work methods, operations or processes, or the introduction of any new equipment which:

- a) Significantly affects the terms and conditions of one or more employees to whom this Agreement applies, or;
- b) Alters significantly the basis upon which this Agreement was negotiated.

8.2 Discussion

During the term of this Agreement, any disputes arising in relation to adjustment to Technological Change shall be discussed between the bargaining representatives of the two parties to this Agreement.

8.3 Referral to Arbitration

Where the Board introduces, or intends to introduce, a Technological Change that:

a) Affects the terms and conditions, or security of employment of a significant number of employees to whom this Agreement applies, and;

b) Alters significantly the basis upon which this Agreement was negotiated;

either party may, if the dispute cannot be settled in direct negotiations, refer the matter directly to an Arbitration Board constituted under Article 7 of this Agreement, by passing all other steps in the Grievance Procedure.

8.4 Arbitration Board

The Arbitration Board shall decide whether or not the Board has introduced, or intends to introduce, a Technological Change and upon deciding that the Board has or intends to introduce a Technological Change, the Arbitration Board:

- a) Shall inform the Minister of Labour of its finding; and
- b) May then or later make any one or more of the following orders:
 - that the change be made in accordance with the terms of this Agreement unless the change alters significantly the basis upon which this Agreement was negotiated;
 - ii) that the Board will not proceed with Technological Change for such period not exceeding ninety (90) days, as the Arbitration Board considers appropriate;
 - that the Board reinstate any employee displaced by reason of the Technological Change;
 - iv) that the Board pay to that employee such compensation in respect of **their** displacement as the Arbitration Board considers reasonable;
 - v) that the matter be referred to the Labour Relations Board and, upon such reference being made, the provisions of Section 54 of the Labour Relations Code of British Columbia shall apply.

<u>ARTICLE 9 – GENERAL PROVISIONS</u>

9.1 Contracting

a) It is agreed that the Board has the right to contract out any work. However, such contracting out shall not affect the continued employment of those persons covered by this Agreement, nor shall any employee suffer a reduction in hours of work due to contracting out by the Board.

It is also agreed that work traditionally and exclusively performed by Board employees shall not be contracted out, except where mutually suitable arrangements have been reached between the Board and the Union.

It is further agreed that during the term of this Collective Agreement, a Contracting Joint Committee consisting of two (2) representatives of the Board and two (2) representatives of the Union, on the motion of either party, will meet to discuss such matters as procedures, methods, economics, and other issues relative to the Board's contracting out of work permitted by this Article.

b) Changes Affecting the Agreement. The Board agrees that any reports or recommendations made to the Board dealing with matters covered by this Agreement including recommendations for changes in method of operation that may affect pay rates, work loads or reduction of employment will be communicated to the Union at such interval before they are dealt with by the Board as to afford the Union reasonable opportunity to consider them and make representations to the Board concerning them and further that, if employees are deprived of employment by any implementation of such change, they shall receive priority consideration for other employment with the Board provided there are vacancies for which such employees are qualified to fill.

9.2 Picketing

It is hereby agreed between the parties to this Agreement that no employee will be required to enter any building, property or business where a picket line is in evidence, when such picket line is legally established under the statutes of the Province of British Columbia.

9.3 School Support Staff

The Board agrees that the hours of work for any employee assigned to a full-time (35 hour week) position will not be reduced, other than for budgetary considerations. In such instances, the Board shall notify the Union, in writing, of such reduction in hours; however, it is agreed that the Board retains the right to modify its Supportive Staff Regulations to meet changing conditions after all proposed changes have been discussed with the Union.

Where one Full-Time employee can satisfactorily perform all the duties assigned to one location or school, the Board shall not employ two or more Part-Time employees to perform these duties. Where more than seven (7) hours of supportive help is required each day in any one location or school, the Board shall be required, where practicable, to hire one Full-Time and one Part-Time employee.

It is agreed and understood that in the application of this Section, the Board shall have the exclusive right to determine whether or not the duties required to be performed can be satisfactorily performed by one employee.

9.4 Custodial/Janitorial Workload

The maximum workload for a janitor over an eight (8) hour shift is defined in the Report (with its attachments) entitled "Joint Custodial Workload Committee" revision dated August 30, 2021. The Board may vary the tasks for a custodian/janitor but this maximum workload shall not be exceeded.

Upon receiving a complaint of an inappropriate or excessive workload assignment, the Union undertakes to fully investigate the matter and eliminate frivolous/unsubstantiated complaints. In the event that the Union files a complaint which questions the workload of specific employees, a committee consisting of equal numbers of representatives from the Union and Board; will meet and attempt to resolve the dispute. If either party cannot agree on a resolution, either party may then refer the matter to a third party for a binding decision.

9.5 Employees with Disabilities

Within the limitation imposed by the Board's unwillingness to create unnecessary work, the Board is willing to make every conceivable effort in co-operation with the Union in order to provide opportunities for older employees and employees with disabilities to retain employment.

9.6 a) No Discrimination

The Board and the Union subscribe to the principles and agree to comply with the provisions of the HUMAN RIGHTS ACT of British Columbia and the CANADIAN CHARTER OF RIGHTS AND FREEDOMS. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, both parties agree to the following:

- i) The Board shall not discriminate against any applicant for employment or any employee regarding the terms of employment on the basis of age, sex, race, colour, religion, political belief, national origin, marital status, gender expression or identity, physical or mental ability, unless the limitation, specification or preference is based on a bona fide occupational requirement.
- ii) The Board shall not discriminate against any employee because that employee participates in Union authorized activities.

b) Duty to Accommodate

In circumstances where an employee may be unable to perform the regular duties of **their** position due to a mental or physical disability, the Employer and Union, together with the affected employee, shall meet to discuss, gather and consider the available evidence regarding the existence and nature of the disability.

The Board and the Union acknowledge that accommodation is a three party process and agree to work together in considering all relevant factors such as issues of undue hardship.

Affected employees shall be required to participate fully in this process.

9.7 Sexual/Personal Harassment

The Board and the Union recognize the right of employees to work in an environment free from sexual/personal harassment and agree to co-operate in attempting to resolve, in a confidential manner, any complaints of sexual/personal harassment which may arise in the workplace. The Board undertakes to discipline any person employed by the Board, shown to be engaging in the sexual/personal harassment of another employee:

- a) Sexual harassment is defined as unwelcome sexual advances, requests for sexual favours, and other verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature when:
 - submission to such conduct is made either explicitly or implicitly a term or condition of an individual's employment;
 - ii) submission to or rejection of such conduct by an individual is used as the basis for employment decisions affecting such individual; or,
 - iii) such conduct interferes with an individual's work performance or creates an intimidating, hostile or defensive working environment.
 - b) Personal harassment is defined as repeated, intentional, unconstructive, offensive comments or actions deliberately designed to demean an individual or to cause personal humiliation, which a reasonable person would know to be offensive and unwelcome and serves no legitimate work-related purpose.

- c) Complaints of sexual/personal harassment shall be treated seriously and in strict confidence by the Board and the Union.
- d) No employee shall be subject to reprisal, threat of reprisal, or discipline as a result of filing a bona fide complaint of sexual/personal harassment.
- e) Where false or malicious complaints are made, disciplinary action may occur.
- 2. a) Where an employee believes that **they have** been subjected to harassment as defined under this Article, the employee shall submit a written complaint to the Superintendent or designate identifying the alleged harasser and detailing the specific behaviour or comments which are alleged to be harassment.
 - b) The Superintendent or designate shall take appropriate action to address the complaint. Such action will include a review of the complaint by a trained or experienced person who may recommend mediation, a more detailed investigation into the allegations, and/or dismissal of the complaint.
 - c) An employee, who is not satisfied with the outcome of their complaint, may file a grievance at Step 3 of the Grievance Process, provided that the subject of the grievance has not been the issue in another dispute or grievance.

9.8 Occupational Health and Safety

The Board agrees to comply with all legislation applicable to Occupational Health and Safety.

a) Occupational Health and Safety Committee

It is agreed that the Occupational Health and Safety Committee be continued and that it be constituted in accordance with the Workers' Compensation Act Regulations.

An Occupational Health and Safety Committee shall exist and be comprised of an equal number of representatives from CUPE, the NVTA and the Board. Responsibility for the appointment and availability of required Union representatives shall be that of the Union. Release from duties for Occupational Health and Safety representatives to carry out committee work shall be granted without a loss of pay. Requested shift adjustments to allow representatives' attendance at the District Occupational Health and Safety meetings will be approved.

The function of the occupational Health and Safety Committee shall be to assist in creating a safe place of work and it shall recommend actions which shall improve the effectiveness of the Occupational Health and Safety Program.

b) Right to Refuse

Employees have the right to refuse unsafe work in accordance with applicable legislation.

If an employee has reasonable cause to believe that to carry out any work process would create an undue hazard to the health and safety of any person, the employee shall not carry out such work.

Where an employee refuses such work based on these grounds, they must immediately report the circumstances to their immediate supervisor or employer.

The Board will investigate such reports in an effort to remedy any unsafe condition without delay in consultation with the Occupational Health and Safety Committee.

Where the Board's investigative actions do not resolve the matter, and/or the employee continues to refuse to carry out the work in question, the matter shall be referred to WorkSafeBC.

An employee shall not be disciplined for bringing to the attention of the appropriate Supervisor, the Health and Safety Supervisor or the Health and Safety Committee, any activity or unsafe practice that may pose a hazard to the employee or others.

9.9 Protective Clothing

It is agreed that the Board shall provide one set of rain gear (slickers and boots) at each school, and other work locations, for use by employees required to work outside during inclement weather. Other safety apparel (excluding safety footwear) required by the Board shall be provided at no cost to employees.

The Board shall provide \$250 every two years, towards the purchase of safety footwear for employees (excluding casuals) in the following classifications:

Trades Supervisor Grounds – Maintenance Worker Trades

Payment of the **\$250** shall be made upon receipt of proof of purchase. Such payment shall be available only one (1) time per calendar year.

9.10 Indemnification

The Board shall defend, save harmless and indemnify all employees for any claims, suits, actions or other proceedings which may be brought against them which arise from the performance of their duties and responsibilities and for any cost, loss, damage and liability arising there from, provided that this covenant does not apply in respect of any criminal acts committed by the employees, or in respect of any gross negligence on the part of the employees occurring outside the course and scope of their prescribed duties.

9.11 Support Staff on Field Trips

In the event support staff are required by the Board to be on duty during a field trip that takes place beyond the normal working hours of the employee, the Board shall:

- a) Provide the normal rate of pay to a maximum of seven (7) hours per day;
- b) Pay all meals, accommodation and transportation expenses;
- c) Pay an overnight premium of \$30 per night. Where an employee is called out by an administrator to attend to a student during the overnight shift, than call out rates shall apply, with the exception of travel time;
- d) Provide at least eight (8) hours clear from responsibility for low incidence students requiring supervision each twenty-four (24) hours, and;

e) In the case of Education Assistants who are required to attend to a physically dependent child or a student with complex needs needing continuous care and therefore are unable to take a rest break, the employee will be entitled to an additional five (5) hours per day at straight time rates. This additional compensation may be taken as compensatory time at some mutually acceptable future date to be determined by the employee and their principal, or pay. Note: For the purposes of identifying these students, they shall be those formally identified in a low incidence category that have physical and or intensive behavioural related needs and who overnight in the shared cabin with students at Cheakamus.

9.12 District Joint Consultation Committee

- a) A District Consultation Committee shall be established for the purpose of consulting regularly about issues relating to the workplace that affect the parties of any employee bound by the Agreement, for promoting cooperative resolution of workplace issues, fostering the development of work related skills, and for promoting workplace productivity.
- b) The Committee shall not have authority to adjust the terms of the Collective Agreement nor offer interpretations regarding sections of the Collective Agreement that may be in dispute.
- c) The Committee shall consist of three (3) representatives each from the Board and the Union.
- d) The Committee shall develop a meeting schedule with the Chair of the Committee rotating between the Board and the Union from meeting to meeting.
- e) The Committee shall meet a minimum of once every two (2) months.

9.13 Social Insurance Numbers

The parties acknowledge the Board's right to use Social Insurance Numbers (S.I.N.'s) for payroll purposes only, and agree that S.I.N.'s will not be released to any other person(s).

9.14 Reimbursement of Personal Property Losses

The Board will reimburse its employees for personal property losses sustained as a result of theft and/or vandalism while on assignment for the Board up to a maximum of \$300 per incident, providing that:

a) The loss was in excess of \$10;

- b) The employee filed a police report;
- c) The claim is made in writing to the Superintendent or designate supported by satisfactory evidence of loss;
- d) The appropriate Supervisor report that the loss was sustained while on assignment for the Board.

9.15 Printing and Distribution of the Collective Agreement

- a) The Board and the Union agree to finalize and sign copies of the Collective Agreement within sixty (60) working days of the ratification of the Memorandum of Agreement by both parties.
- b) The Board and the Union further agree to distribute, to all employees, **an electronic** copy of the Collective Agreement within sixty (60) working days of the signing of the Collective Agreement.
- c) The purchase order for printed copies will be placed jointly by the parties and the Collective Agreement shall be printed in a unionized shop, and the cost shall be shared equally by the parties. Two (2) printed copies will be provided to each school and the Union and School District will be provided 100 printed copies each.

9.16 Individual Education Plans

Participation in the preparation of Individual Education Plans will be facilitated for Education Assistants at cost to the Board.

9.17 Education Assistant Consultation

If the Board requests an Education Assistant to engage in a consultation process with a teacher(s), administrative officer, or parent outside normal working hours, compensation will be provided by the Board consistent with the Collective Agreement.

9.18 Support Staff Professional Development

All teacher non-instructional days are to be a day of work for all school based support staff employees, with the exception of crossing guards. Crossing guards

who voluntarily take part in Pro-D activities will be paid their regular pay for the day.

A portion of the Board's annual Support Staff in-service budget will be set aside for training of Education Assistants. Such training may be delivered through night school, weekend seminars or in-service opportunities provided by the Board.

9.19 Medical Procedures

The Board has policies and procedures for administration of medicines and medical procedures to students. All employees who may be required to administer medicines or undertake medical procedures shall receive a copy of the Board's policies and procedures and shall receive the appropriate training to perform such medical procedures.

9.20 Violence in the Workplace

The Board and the Union recognize the right of employees to work in an environment free from violence and agree to cooperate in addressing issues of violence in the workplace.

The Board is responsible for conducting risk assessment and in consultation with the Occupational Health Committee shall implement practices to minimize and/or eliminate risks including:

- Communicating to employees the methods to report, investigate and document incidents
- Consultation with employees in the development and revision of safety plans
- Training opportunities to deal with non-violent crisis intervention and similar means to deal with potential violent students, and
- Reporting out through OHS Committees on compliance.

9.21 Compressed Work Week

- a) The compressed work week will continue during the summer break for the following facilities:
 - 1. Education Services Centre
 - 2. Maintenance office
- b) The compressed work week, for those employees who wish to participate, shall be a nine (9) day fortnight and shall be in effect from the first Monday

following the start of the summer break until the last Friday preceding Labour Day.

- c) The nine (9) day fortnight-compressed work week option is subject to the approval of the Department Head and such approval shall not be unreasonably denied.
- d) The schedule shall be arranged as follows:
 - i) Normal Summer hours (outside the compressed work week) shall be seven (7) hours per day, exclusive of a meal break.
 - ii) The compressed work week shall be as follows:
 - a) Eight (8) hour employees shall work eight (8) hours and fifty-three (53) minutes per day with one half (1/2) hour lunch break.
 - b) Seven (7) hour employees shall work seven (7) hours and forty-seven (47) minutes with a one-half (1/2) hour lunch break.
 - c) Hours shall be pro-rated for employees who work less than seven (7) hours.
 - iii) It is expected that all employees will work in advance of the day to be taken off. Statutory Holidays or sick days count as days worked. Normal coffee breaks shall continue to apply. Overtime shall commence at the end of the modified work day. Employees shall report time to the ADT office which reflect the actual hours worked.

9.22 Job Sharing

The Board will consider job share applications within its management rights and subject to an approval process requiring the mutual agreement of the Board and Union. The Board shall not incur any additional salary or benefits costs as a result of a job share. Employees interested in applying for a job share are required to submit a written application to Human Resources on an annual basis. Applications are encouraged by April 1st.

9.23 Service Improvement Allocation

The Board will set aside remaining funds from the bargaining monies to fund learning academies:

- Clerical academy for supervision aides, clerical staff etc. to upgrade skills, to learn school office operations and provide advancement opportunities into higher classifications
- EA training fund provide training that will prepare EAs for more specialized roles or assist supervision aides in gaining basic skills to move into EA roles
- Trades/custodians professional development.

In accordance with the Provincial Framework Agreement (Appendix A) Article 3 (Local Bargaining), the Employer and Union agree that effective July 1, 2020, the Service Improvement Allocation ongoing annual funding of \$199,993 provided for in the 2019-22 Provincial Framework Agreement, item 3, will be used to:

- 1. \$175,000 EA Continuity Allowance
- 2. \$10,500 Support Staff on Field Trips
- 3. \$14,493 Learning Academies

The District is under no obligation to expend more than the \$199,993 provided for in the 2019-22 Provincial Framework Agreement.

ARTICLE 10 – SCHEDULES

10.1 Schedules

The following named schedules, attached hereto, shall form part of this Agreement:

Schedule "A" Rates of Pay

Schedule "B" Supplementary Vacations

Schedule "C" Compressed Work Week

Schedule "D" Classes Required to Work Other Than Normal Work Week

Schedule "E" Secure Storage

Schedule "F" Non-Teaching Layoff Response Form

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed on the date and year first above written.

FOR:

FOR:

TOIX.	i Oit.
THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT #44 (NORTH VANCOUVER)	CANADIAN UNION OF PUBLIC EMPLOYEES, LOCAL 389 NORTH VANCOUVER, BC
Venia Frien	Yvette Mercier
Xenia O'Brien	Yvette Mercier
Chairperson	President, Local 389
Status	
Jacqui Stewart	Tuesday Andrich
Secretary-Treasurer	National Representative

SCHEDULE "A"

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT No. 44 (NORTH VANCOUVER)

This schedule is updated as new positions are created and finalized by the JJEC.

Position	30-Jun-21	1-Jul-22	1-Jul-23	1-Jul-24
	-	\$0.25; and 3.24% GWI	5.5% GWI; plus 1.25% COLA	2% GWI; plus COLA*
Accounts Payable Assistant	\$ 27.22	\$ 28.36	\$ 30.27	\$ 30.88
Accounts Receivable Assistant	\$ 28.82	\$ 30.01	\$ 32.04	\$ 32.68
Administration Receptionist Assistant	\$ 25.99	\$ 27.09	\$ 28.92	\$ 29.50
Administrative Assistant International				
Students	\$ 28.85	\$ 30.04	\$ 32.07	\$ 32.71
ADT Assistant	\$ 28.37	\$ 29.55	\$ 31.54	\$ 32.17
Autism Support Worker	\$ 31.33	\$ 32.60	\$ 34.80	\$ 35.50
Behaviour Support Worker	\$ 31.33	\$ 32.60	\$ 34.80	\$ 35.50
Community Education Facilitator	\$ 28.24	\$ 29.41	\$ 31.40	\$ 32.03
Digital Media Academy Assistant	\$ 27.25	\$ 28.39	\$ 30.31	\$ 30.92
Education Assistant (EA)	\$ 30.75	\$ 32.00	\$ 34.16	\$ 34.84
Education Assistant (Indigenous Support				
Worker)	\$ 30.75	\$ 32.00	\$ 34.16	\$ 34.84
Education Assistant (Learning Support Worker)	\$ 30.75	\$ 32.00	\$ 34.16	\$ 34.84
Education Assistant (Dependent Care/Medical)	\$ 30.75	\$ 32.00	\$ 34.16	\$ 34.84
Education Assistant (Deaf Blind Intervenor)	\$ 31.86	\$ 33.15	\$ 35.39	\$ 36.10
Elementary School Administrative		* • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		* • • • • • •
Assistant	\$ 31.19	\$ 32.46	\$ 34.65	\$ 35.34
Elementary School Assistant	\$ 26.82	\$ 27.95	\$ 29.84	\$ 30.44
Facilities & Planning Administrative	¢ 20 55	¢ 20.72	¢ 04 74	¢ 22 27
Assistant	\$ 28.55	\$ 29.73	\$ 31.74	\$ 32.37
Facilities Helper	\$ 29.42	\$ 30.63	\$ 32.70	\$ 33.35
Food Program Aide II	\$ 25.28	\$ 26.36	\$ 28.14	\$ 28.70
French Assistant	\$ 25.17	\$ 26.24	\$ 28.01	\$ 28.57
HR Assistant	\$ 27.32	\$ 30.39	\$ 32.44	\$ 33.09
HR Benefits Administrative Assistant	\$ 32.09	\$ 33.39	\$ 35.64	\$ 36.35
ICT Trainer/Application Support	\$ 29.54	\$ 30.76	\$ 32.84	\$ 33.50

Laboratory Technician	\$ 29.10	\$ 30.30	\$ 32.35	\$ 33.00
Learning Services Administrative		Ţ	+	,
Assistant	\$ 30.87	\$ 32.13	\$ 34.30	\$ 34.99
Learning Services Assistant	\$ 28.29	\$ 29.46	\$ 31.45	\$ 32.08
Level IV Team Support Worker	\$ 32.84	\$ 34.16	\$ 36.47	\$ 37.20
Library Assistant	\$ 25.31	\$ 26.39	\$ 28.17	\$ 28.73
Library Technician	\$ 26.55	\$ 27.67	\$ 29.54	\$ 30.13
Payroll Supervisor	\$ 32.90	\$ 34.22	\$ 36.53	\$ 37.26
Program Assistant Artist For Kids	\$ 26.22	\$ 27.33	\$ 29.17	\$ 29.75
Records Clerk	\$ 28.63	\$ 29.82	\$ 31.83	\$ 32.47
Records Clerk (Central Registration)	\$ 29.54	\$ 30.76	\$ 32.84	\$ 33.50
Records Management Assistant	\$ 27.66	\$ 28.81	\$ 30.75	\$ 31.37
Secondary Athletic Program Assistant	\$ 26.22	\$ 27.33	\$ 29.17	\$ 29.75
Secondary School Administrative				
Assistant	\$ 32.00	\$ 33.29	\$ 35.54	\$ 36.25
Secondary School Assistant	\$ 25.28	\$ 26.36	\$ 28.14	\$ 28.70
Senior Accountant	\$ 33.44	\$ 38.23	\$ 40.81	\$ 41.63
Senior Payroll Assistant	\$ 32.69	\$ 34.01	\$ 36.31	\$ 37.04
Strong Start Facilitator	\$ 30.63	\$ 31.88	\$ 34.03	\$ 34.71
Supervision Aide (Elementary)	\$ 24.06	\$ 25.10	\$ 26.79	\$ 27.33
Supervision Aide (Secondary)	\$ 25.45	\$ 26.53	\$ 28.32	\$ 28.89
Webmaster and Communications				
Assistant	\$ 29.41	\$ 30.62	\$ 32.69	\$ 33.34
Work Experience Facilitator	\$ 29.99	\$ 31.22	\$ 33.33	\$ 34.00
Youth Engagement Worker	\$ 34.26	\$ 35.63	\$ 38.04	\$ 38.80
Visual Language Interpreter	\$ 26.87	\$ 35.45	\$ 37.84	\$ 38.60
Adult Crossing Guard	\$ 17.52	\$ 18.35	\$ 19.59	\$ 19.98
Systems and Network Administrator	\$ 33.14	\$ 34.47	\$ 36.80	\$ 37.54
Computer Systems Technician	\$ 30.87	\$ 32.13	\$ 34.30	\$ 34.99
DDC Systems Technician	\$ 34.31	\$ 37.10	\$ 39.60	\$ 40.39
Delivery Truck Driver	\$ 25.00	\$ 26.07	\$ 27.83	\$ 28.39
Grounds Worker	\$ 30.32	\$ 31.56	\$ 33.69	\$ 34.36
Janitor (B4)	\$ 23.92	\$ 24.95	\$ 26.63	\$ 27.16
Maintenance Service Technician	\$ 28.49	\$ 29.67	\$ 31.67	\$ 32.30
Night Custodian (B3)	\$ 24.71	\$ 25.77	\$ 27.51	\$ 28.06
Senior Custodian - Elementary (B1)	\$ 25.23	\$ 26.31	\$ 28.09	\$ 28.65
Senior Custodian - Secondary (A)	\$ 25.94	\$ 27.04	\$ 28.87	\$ 29.45
Trades Coordinator Architectural	\$ 39.59	\$ 42.77	\$ 45.66	\$ 46.57
Trades Coordinator Electrical	\$ 39.59	\$ 42.77	\$ 45.66	\$ 46.57
Trades Coordinator Grounds and Civil				
Infrastructure	\$ 39.59	\$ 42.77	\$ 45.66	\$ 46.57

Trades-Carpenter	\$ 34.96	\$ 37.79	\$ 40.34	\$ 41.15
Trades-Electrician	\$ 34.96	\$ 37.79	\$ 40.34	\$ 41.15
Trades-Heating Mechanic	\$ 34.96	\$ 37.79	\$ 40.34	\$ 41.15
Trades-Painter	\$ 34.96	\$ 37.79	\$ 40.34	\$ 41.15
Trades-Plumber/Gas Fitter	\$ 34.96	\$ 37.79	\$ 40.34	\$ 41.15
Trades-HVAC Technician	\$ 35.61	\$ 38.49	\$ 41.09	\$ 41.91

Any custodian who is required by the Board to hold a valid Heating Plant Operating Certificate shall be classed as a Senior Custodian-Secondary School (A), and shall be paid forty-two (42) cents above the schedule rates. In addition, a Trades Supervisor, who does not have a HVAC or Plumbing/Gas Fitting TQ, may be required by the Board to have a Heating Plant Operating Certificate and shall be paid the same premium of forty-two (42) cents per hour.

Labour Market Adjustment:

The class specifications marked with an asterisk have a labour market adjustment as of July 1, 2022 as outlined below:

** 4% increase

Trades-Carpenter

Trades-Electrical

DDC Systems Technician

Trades- HVAC Plumber

HVAC Tech 1

HVAC Tech 2

Trades-Painter

Trades Coordinator - Electrical

Trades Coordinator – Architectural

<u>Trades Coordinator – Mechanical</u>

***7 % increase

Visual Language Interpreter

***10% increase

Senior Accountant

SCHEDULE "B"

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT No. 44 (NORTH VANCOUVER)
SUPPLEMENTARY VACATIONS – ARTICLE 6.3: EXPLANATION OF THE TABLE

The left hand figure in each column shows the number of working days* of regular annual vacation; i.e. fifteen (15) days from the second to the seventh calendar year of service; twenty (20) days from the 8th to the 15th; twenty-five (25) days from the 16th to the 22nd; and thirty (30) days in the 23rd and all subsequent calendar years of service.

The right hand figures show the number of working days* of supplementary vacation, and appear in the calendar year in which they are credited to an employee. These supplementary vacation days may be taken in any of the years beginning with the one in which they were credited but prior to the one in which the next five (5) days are credited.

For example:

An employee hired in 2005 will have completed more than ten (10) years of service before the end of 2015. The employee hired in 2015 will be credited with five (5) supplementary working days which may be taken at any time between 2015 and 2020. In 2020 the employee will be credited with a further five (5) supplementary working days, etc.

*Entitlement in working days is based upon a five (5) day work week.

Vacation Entitlement and Supplementary Vacation Summary

Service Year	12 Month Employees' Vacation Days	School Term Employees' Vacation %
1 st	1 day for each month of service (Max = 10)	4%
2 nd to 7 th	15 days	6%
8 th to 15 th	20 days	8%
16 th to 22 nd	25 days	10%
23 rd onwards	30 days	12%

Service Year	12 Month Employees' Supplementary Vacation Days	School Term Employees' Supplementary Vacation
11 th	5 days	5 days' pay
16 th	5 days	5 days' pay
21 st	5 days	5 days' pay
26 th	5 days	5 days' pay

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT #44 (NORTH VANCOUVER) ARTICLE 6.2 ANNUAL VACATIONS REGULAR FULL-TIME AND REGULAR PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

Year	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	201	2020	2021	2022	202	2024	2025
2025																	TBA
2024																TBA	15
2023															TBA	15	15
2022														TBA	15	15	15
2021													TBA	15	15	15	15
2020												TBA	15	15	15	15	15
2019											TBA	15	15	15	15	15	15
2018										TBA	15	15	15	15	15	15	20
2017									TBA	15	15	15	15	15	15	20	20
2016								TBA	15	15	15	15	15	15	20	20	20
2015							TBA	15	15	15	15	15	15	20	20	20	20/5
2014						TBA	15	15	15	15	15	15	20	20	20	20/5	20
2013					TBA	15	15	15	15	15	15	20	20	20	20/5	20	20
2012				TBA	15	15	15	15	15	15	20	20	20	20/5	20	20	20
2011			TBA	15	15	15	15	15	15	20	20	20	20/5	20	20	20	20
2010		TBA	15	15	15	15	15	15	20	20	20	20/5	20	20	20	20	25/5
2009	TBA	15	15	15	15	15	15	20	20	20	20/5	20	20	20	20	25/5	25
2008	15	15	15	15	15	15	20	20	20	20/5	20	20	20	20	25/5	25	25
2007	15	15	15	15	15	20	20	20	20/5	20	20	20	20	25/5	25	25	25
2006	15	15	15	15	20	20	20	20/5	20	20	20	20	25/5	25	25	25	25
2005	15	15	15	20	20	20	20/5	20	20	20	20	25/5	25	25	25	25	25/5
2004	15	15	20	20	20	20/5	20	20	20	20	25/5	25	25	25	25	25/5	25
2003	15	20	20	20	20/5	20	20	20	20	25/5	25	25	25	25		25	30
2002	20	20	20	20/5	20	20	20	20		25	25	25	25	25/5	25	30	30
2001	20	20	20/5	20	20	20	20	25/5	25	25	25	25	25/5	25	30	30	30
2000	20	20/5	20	20	20	20	25/5	25	25	25	25	25/5	25	30	30	30	30/5
1999	20/5	20	20	20	20	25/5	25	25	25	25	25/5	25	30	30	30	30/5	30
1998	20	20	20	20	25/5	25	25	25	25	25/5	25	30	30	30		30	30
1997	20	20	20	25/5	25	25	25	25	25/5	25	30	30	30	30/5	30	30	30
1996	20	20	25/5	25	25	25	25	25/5	25	30	30	30	30/5	30	30	30	30
1995		25/5					25/5	25									30/5
1994	25/5										30/5						
1993	25					25	30								30/5		
1992	25				25	25	30		30/5	30						30	30
1991	25				30	30							30/5				
1990	25							30									
1989	25/5						30				30/5						30
1988	25	30				30	30				30	30			30/5		
1987	30			30/5	30	30	30		30/5	30		30		30/5		30	
1986	30	30	30/5	30	30	30	30	30/5	30	30	30	30	30/5	30	30	30	30

SCHEDULE "C"

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT No. 44 (NORTH VANCOUVER) PRINCIPLES GOVERNING THE CONVERSION OF EMPLOYEE FRINGE BENEFITS IN CASES OF INTRODUCTION OR RENEWAL OF COMPRESSED WORK WEEKS

In the event that the parties to this Agreement agree to convert the work week of the employees staffing the whole or a part of the Board's operations, from five (5) working days to four (4) working days per week or to nine (9) working days per fortnight, it has been agreed that such employee's fringe benefits shall be converted as follows:

Basic annual working hours shall be calculated as 260.89×4 daily working hours as per the 5-day week; e.g., $260.89 \times 7 = 1826-1/4$, or $260.89 \times 7.5 = 1956.675$.

Basic annual statutory holiday hours shall be calculated as 12 x daily hours as per the 5-day week; e.g. $12 \times 7 = 84$, or $12 \times 7.5 = 90$.

Account shall be taken of the difference in basic annual rest period allowances; e.g., 52.178 weeks x 5 days x 20 minutes (=86.96 hours) in the case of the standard 5-day week; 52.178 x 4 x 20 minutes (=69.57 hours) in the case of the 4-day week; and 52.178 x 4.5 x 20 minutes (=78.27 hours) in the case of the 9-day fortnight.

Employees shall have at least two of their days off in any week consecutive, and such days off shall for purposes of overtime pay be deemed to be the "first scheduled rest day" and the "second scheduled rest day". Pay for any work on the third day off in any week shall be in accordance with normal daily overtime rates.

For the purposes of overtime pay on scheduled working days, normal daily working hours and the normal work week shall be considered to be those lengths of time established by the parties pursuant to paragraph 8 herein.

Annual vacation entitlement and all credits for Deferred Vacation, Sick Leave benefits and Gratuity benefits shall be converted from working days to working hours by multiplying the number of days to an employee's credit by the daily working hours as per the previous 5-day week. All deductions or debits shall be made on the basis that each working day of absence shall be measured as the length of time established by the parties pursuant to paragraph 8 herein.

Notwithstanding any clause in a collective agreement to the contrary, an employee shall not receive pay for acting senior capacity where **they** have been temporarily required to accept the responsibilities and carry out the duties of a senior position because of the absence of the incumbent of that senior position due to the compressed work week.

In order to establish the length of the compressed work day and the compressed work week, the parties are to be governed by the principle that the basic annual working hours <u>less</u> basic annual statutory holiday hours and <u>less</u> basic annual rest period allowances are to remain the same under compressed work week as they were under the standard work week.

The parties will be free to decide how to deal with the matter of statutory holidays in accordance with one or other of the three following ways, and their decisions will determine automatically the lengths of the compressed work day and work week.

- a) Revert to a standard 5-day week in any week in which a statutory holiday occurs.
- b) Change days off during any week in which a statutory holiday occurs in order that each employee will work on 4 days in every week of the year with the sole exception being when Christmas Day and Boxing Day are observed in the same week, in which case each employee will work 3 days in that week and 5 days in the immediately preceding week.
- c) Have a compressed work day off with pay for each statutory holiday, and owe the Employer the difference in hours between the length of the compressed work days and the length of the employee's former standard work day.

Whenever any doubt arises as to how the fringe benefit conversion should be made with respect to any item (whether or not covered by this Schedule "C"), the doubt shall be resolved by reference to the basic principle agreed upon by the parties to this Agreement; i.e., there shall be no additional salary or benefit cost to the Employer, and no reduction in the salaries or benefits received by the employees.

SCHEDULE "D"

THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT No. 44 (NORTH VANCOUVER) CLASSES REQUIRED TO WORK OTHER THAN NORMAL WORK WEEK

This is Schedule "**D**" referred to in Article 3.10 of this Agreement.

a) Support Staff

b) ADT Assistant

The ADT Assistant may be required to commence duty prior to 8:00 a.m. on each regular working day of the regular work week, Monday to Friday inclusive, for the central hiring of substitute teachers, and that the ADT Assistant shall receive \$1.05 per hour, as shift differential which will be paid on a twelve-month basis to the employees occupying these positions. The incumbents in these positions would revert to the normal working hours of 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. Monday to Friday inclusive, during those periods of time when school is not in session, e.g., summer vacation, Christmas vacation and Spring Break. This arrangement between the parties to this Agreement is solely and exclusively in respect of these particular positions only. Any employee required to substitute for these employees, and required to commence duty prior to 8:00 a.m. will be paid the shift differential as above, in addition to the basic rate for the position, for the full shift so worked.

c) Computer Services Employees

The hours of work of Computer Services Employees shall normally be as outlined in Article 3.8 of this Agreement. However, these hours may be adjusted from day to day to provide 12-hour coverage.

Specifically, one of the employees may be scheduled to work seven (7) consecutive hours commencing later than the normal start time and ending not later than 8:30 p.m., provided that every effort has been made to give reasonable notice of such change in hours.

A shift premium shall be paid in accordance with Article 4.7 for any shift ending later than 5:00 p.m.

The hours of work of any shift may be varied with the mutual consent of the employee and the immediate Supervisor, provided that the excess or deficiency of hours are adjusted on a subsequent shift, and that the employee shall not work in excess of seventy (70) hours in any two-week period without payment of overtime premium. This flexibility of hours shall not apply to Saturday or Sunday operations.

SCHEDULE "E"

The Board recognizes the need to provide appropriate work space and security storage for the personal belongings of employees. Therefore the following shall apply:

- At the request of the Union representative at the school site, a representative of the Board and a representative of the Union shall survey the school facility to identify and establish appropriate facilities within the school;
- b) If suitable facilities cannot be found, the Board will, within the availability of necessary capital funds, work towards providing appropriate work space and secure storage for employees.

SCHEDULE "F"

NON-TEACHING LAYOFF RESPONSE FORM

<u>N</u>	ME	SENIORITY	
<u>LC</u>	CATION	HOME PHONE	
	the result of rece following:	eiving a layoff letter, please advise us of your intentions by choosing fr	om
	I wish to exercis 3 (d)).	e my seniority rights and right to "bump" a more junior employee. (Arti	cle
	Signature	Date	
	The position that	at I wish to bump is as follows (if known):	
	Position	Location	_
	Option 1 respo	nse must be received within 10 working days of receiving this notice) .
	Resources Dep	nis option, you may be called to an information interview with the Humbartment to discuss your knowledge and ability to assume alternate position options that are then available.	
2.	5.3(e)(v). This should I remain	in my seniority rights and recall rights for thirty-six months as per Arti includes recall to my former position (classification, location, hou eligible. (Article 5.3(e)). This option may be selected as well as Optiat "bumping" into another position does not materialize.	ırs)
	Signature	Date	
	Option 2 respo	nse must be received within 30 calendar days of receiving this notice	е.
3.		eive Termination Pay. I understand that by choosing this option, I for ts and rights to recall to future positions. (Article 5.7)	feit
	Signature	Date	

Option 3 response must be received within 30 calendar days of receiving this notice.

All responses should be sent to **Human Resources** in the time frames indicated above. Thank you.

Re: Custodial Shifts

- 1. Custodians employed as of December 9, 2003 who were working eight (8) hour days and twelve (12) months per year will continue to do so for the period of the July 1, 2006 to June 30, 2010 Collective Agreement and any bridging period of the July 1, 2006 to June 30, 2010 Collective Agreement.
- 2. Custodians employed in ten (10) month positions after December 9, 2003 shall be converted to twelve (12) month positions as of July 1, 2006.
- 3. In posting less than eight (8) hour shifts, or shifts of less than twelve (12) months, the Board will not purposely divide an eight (8) hour position to create part-time positions, or create less than twelve (12) month positions unless operationally or financially necessary as determined by the Board.
- 4. During the life of the current Collective Agreement and any bridging period thereof, the Board may post custodial positions of less than eight (8) hours per day or twelve (12) months per year, subject to paragraph 1 above.
- 5. During the summer break, the Board will have the ability to transfer, to a maximum of four (4) weeks, custodial staff from their current location in order to maximize efficiency and accommodate operational needs.
- 6. The parties agree that this letter resolves the outstanding issues related to the Grievance #0307 and Grievance #0313 arbitration.

Original Copy Signed	Original Copy Signed
For the Board	For CUPE
Barbara Walter	Cindy McQueen

Dated May 24, 2006

Re: Alternate Work Schedules

The parties agree to strike a joint committee to study alternate work schedules currently implemented in comparable work environments to determine if alternate schedules would be feasible for certain classifications of district employees. The committee will make recommendations to the Joint Consultation Committee for its review by April 30, 2007. If both parties agree, a pilot project may be introduced with the opportunity for measured feedback and review prior to committing to new language on alternate work schedules.

Original Copy Signed	Original Copy Signed
For the Board	For CUPE
Barbara Walter	Cindy McQueen

Dated May 24, 2006

Re: Peak Hours: Support Staff

The parties recognize that the nature of the work undertaken by Support Staff employees may require flexibility in meeting the needs of the schools and the ability to provide peak hours for support to schools for special projects or situations.

If during the school year it is necessary that additional time, up to one hour per day, be granted to a part-time employee, such hours may be granted on a temporary basis without posting. If such hours do not increase the hours of a specific position, the additional hours will normally be offered to the most senior qualified support staff employee in that school or program. If these hours are to continue beyond the current school year, the position will be posted prior to the start of the next school year, as per Article 5.1(a) above.

Original Copy Signed	Original Copy Signed
For the Board	For CUPE
Barbara Walter	Cindy McQueen

Dated May 9, 2006

BETWEEN THE NORTH VANCOUVER BOARD OF EDUCATION AND CUPE LOCAL 389 IN THE MATTER OF EMERGENCY SCHOOL CLOSURES

In accordance with School Board Policy 603 – Closure of Schools Due to Extreme Weather Conditions and the Emergency School Closure Manual (Section V), the following outlines procedures for CUPE employees in the event of an Emergency School Closure.

In the event of a school closure, employees are expected to make every reasonable effort to attend their place of work. If unable to attend, employees are required to contact their immediate supervisor. Employees who provide essential services such as custodial, maintenance are expected to report to work.

Employees will be paid their regular hours if they report to work during a one day school closure; if the closure extends beyond one day, Article 3.6 a) and b) (ii) will apply. Banked time or vacation time may be taken in the event of a closure.

When regular work is impractical or impossible, employees may be required to perform work not normally required; it is understood that an employee shall not be expected to perform a task for which there is not sufficient training.

Employees who have prearranged personal/sick leave or vacation for a day that is declared an emergency closure day will have their absence charged as originally scheduled.

This Letter of Understanding and agreement shall take effect at the date of signing.

Original Copy Signed	Original Copy Signed			
For the Board	For CUPE			
Xenia O'Brien	Cindy McQueen			
March 29, 2012				

BETWEEN THE NORTH VANCOUVER BOARD OF EDUCATION AND CUPE LOCAL 389 IN THE MATTER OF SUPERVISION AIDE – HOURS OF WORK

The parties agree to strike a joint committee to study the hours of work of Supervision Aides and provide recommendations on:

- Hours of work, staffing levels and the benefits or impact to:
- School operations
- Students and learning
- · Scheduling and staffing
- Direct and indirect costs
- Recruitment and retention

The committee will be provided with relevant statistics and make recommendations to the Union and Board prior to the commencement of our next round of bargaining.

This Letter of Understanding and agreement shall take effect at the date of signing.

Original Copy Signed

For the Board For CUPE
Xenia O'Brien Cindy McQueen

Dated March 29, 2012

BETWEEN THE NORTH VANCOUVER BOARD OF EDUCATION AND CUPE LOCAL 389

IN THE MATTER OF STUDENTS WITH EXTREME BEHAVIOUR

Students with Extreme Behavior — Identified students in School District No. 44 who have significant sensory and communicative challenges that can result in unpredictable and explosive behavior will be assigned to a district support team, at the ASW rate. Program changes and/or personnel changes can exacerbate these challenges. Through the hiring process and the annual spring staffing process, schools will determine the need to retain/hire the particular staff that demonstrates the required knowledge in preconditions and functions of behaviour, interrelational skills in managing unpredictable and explosive behaviour and appropriate ability to support the educational program delivery.

In the best interest of the safety of staff as well as the interest of students regarding program cohesiveness and continuity, the North Vancouver School District and CUPE Local #389 agree that:

- The students, as identified by Learning Services, demonstrate significantly challenging behaviors as a result of developmental disabilities and sensory challenges as determined by the Individual Education Plan and Safety Plan.
- The Education Assistant hired may be selected from a list of qualified applicants; and this position is considered assigned and reviewed annually, outside of the regular spring staffing process. The posting will clearly describe the full nature of the assignment including the potential for unpredictable and explosive behaviour. If a student transfers to secondary school then consideration should be given to maintaining the Education Assistant/student relationship.
- The Education Assistants will be provided with ongoing training, support and resources throughout the term of the assignment.
- This Agreement was created in the interest of student success and employee safety. We recognize and appreciate that continuity of relationships is essential for students with these behaviours.
- Employees presently supporting these students will have the first right of refusal for these positions provided they have the required knowledge, skills and abilities.

This agreement shall take effect at the date of signing.

Original Copy Signed	Original Copy Signed
For the Board	For CUPE
Xenia O'Brien	Cindy McQueen

Dated November 3, 2014

<u>Letter of Understanding #7</u>

BETWEEN THE NORTH VANCOUVER BOARD OF EDUCATION AND CUPE LOCAL 389

NEW SCHOOL CALENDAR AND BASE HOURS ADJUSTMENT FOR FULL TIME SCHOOL-TERM EMPLOYEES

The school district has completed our calendar consultation process and has concluded that the new school calendar for 2014/2015 includes a two week spring break.

As we transition to a new calendar from a one-week Spring Break Calendar, and in line with the 2013/2014 school year, the School District and CUPE local 389 have agreed to adjust the hours of work for all school-term employees to ensure that there is no reduction in annual pay. This model better ensures fair and full access to these hours for all affected employees.

Full Time, School Term (10 month) employees are at the maximum number of hours for pensionable earnings reporting. These employees are also at the maximum number of hours per week according to Article 3.8.(b) Hours of Work – Support Staff.

The parties agree that Full Time, School Term employees will work in excess of the 35 hour maximum per week, to be determined and agreed upon between the parties, without prejudice to Article 3.8.(b) Hours of Work – Support Staff. In accordance with this agreement, any hours in excess of 35 will not be eligible for overtime or pensionable reporting.

Any peak hours provided to the schools will be distributed at peak times of the school year and will be over and above this current arrangement.

If a 10 month employee is unable to fulfill this additional time and would prefer to not work and not receive the additional pay, please consult with your Principal and advise Human Resources before November 30, 2014.

This agreement will take effect on the date of ratification of the 2014-2019 Collective Agreement.

Original Copy Signed
For CUPE
Cindy McQueen

Dated November 3, 2014

Addendum to LOU #7

NEW SCHOOL CALENDAR AND BASE HOURS ADJUSTMENT FOR FULL TIME SCHOOL-TERM EMPLOYEES

Letter of Understanding between NVSD and CUPE local 389, October 2014

For the 2014/2015 school year, commencing December 1, 2014, we have calculated that the weekly hours for full time, school term employees will be 36 hours/week.

Starting December 1, 2014 to June 30, 2015, these employees will work an additional 12 minutes/day. These 12 minutes/day or 1 hour/week will not be reported for pension purposes nor will it activate the overtime provisions in the Collective Agreement.

This calculation may be adjusted in future school years according to the agreed upon school calendar, and total number of days in session.

Original Copy Signed
For CUPE Cindy McQueen

Dated November 3, 2014

BETWEEN THE NORTH VANCOUVER BOARD OF EDUCATION AND CUPE LOCAL 389

IN THE MATTER OF CALL OUTS AND STANDBY

Article 4.11 Call-outs and Standby

The parties agree that there have been changes to the practice and operational requirements for Call-outs and Standby since this language was negotiated.

Under the current department organization and operational structure, in addition to Security Runners, Trades/Grounds Supervisors are presently on rotational standby. The parties agree that when Trades/Grounds Supervisors are on Standby, they will be paid per Article 4.11.b.(i) or (ii) at the Janitor (B4) rate.

When Trades/Grounds Supervisors are called out, whether or not on standby, they will be paid per Article 4.11.a. The pay rate for the call out will be processed upon approval of the time sheet by the employee's manager.

When the Trades/Grounds Supervisors are required to perform skilled work as opposed to referring or assigning work, whether or not on standby, they will be paid a minimum of one (1) hour at their pay rate, at straight time. The pay rate for the call out will be processed upon approval of the time sheet by the employee's manager.

This agreement shall take effect at the date of signing and can be cancelled by either party with ninety (90) days' written notice.

Original Copy Signed	Original Copy Signed
For the Board	For CUPE
Xenia O'Brien	Cindy McQueen
Dated November 3, 2014	

BETWEEN THE NORTH VANCOUVER BOARD OF EDUCATION AND CUPE LOCAL 389

IN THE MATTER OF MEDICAL SERVICES PLAN OF BRITISH COLUMBIA - (MSP)

1. With the implementation of the Employer Health Tax Act, <u>S.B.C.</u> 2018, c.42, MSP premiums will be eliminated effective January 1, 2020 by the Province of British Columbia.

Therefore,

- a) The Parties agree to suspend application of references to "MSP" or "Medical Services Plan" in Article 6.17, Article 6.19 (e), and on pp. 28 of the agreement (proration of part-time benefit coverage) on the effective date of the abovenoted act coming into force;
- b) Should future legislative changes reinstate premiums for provincial health coverage under the same or a successor plan to the MSP, 1 (a) above shall no longer apply, and any references to "Medical Services Plan" or "MSP" in the agreement shall be understood to mean such provincial health care plan scheme as may be implemented, the previous language of Article 6.17 would be reinstated.
- 2 As of 2014-2019 Collective Agreement, Extended Health Care Plan coverage is provided by the joint Public Education Benefit Trust, with 100% Employer-paid premiums. Therefore, the parties agree to strike out Article 6.17 (b), Article 6.17 (c) and Article 6.17 (d) as housekeeping items.
- 3 The Parties agree to change the wording of Article 6.17 as housekeeping by inserting the words "Regular Full-Time", to reflect the current and past practice, and amend to read as follows:

6.17 Extended Health Care Plan and Provincial Healthcare Coverage

a) The Board agrees to pay 100% of the premium rates with applicable proration for MSP* and the Extended Health Care Plan for employees with six (6) months seniority.

(*see Letter of Understanding <u>Medical Services Plan of British Columbia – MSP</u>)

Original Copy Signed	Original Copy Signed
For the Board	For CUPE
Xenia O'Brien	Cindy McQueen
Dated December 4, 2019	

BETWEEN THE NORTH VANCOUVER BOARD OF EDUCATION AND CUPE LOCAL 389

IN THE MATTER OF VIOLENCE IN THE WORKPLACE

The parties agree that prevention of violence in the workplace is of paramount importance. The parties commit to providing a healthy and safe working environment that includes procedures to minimize the risk of workplace violence, such as Individual Safe Work Instructions or equivalent and the obligation to report and investigate incidents of workplace violence.

The parties commit to striking within two months of signing this LOU, a committee made of equal Union and Employer representation to review current processes. This committee will provide recommendations to the Board to improve process, improve awareness, education and communication of appropriate procedures. The committee will meet to jointly create a Terms of Reference upon striking the committee.

For the Board For CUPE Yvette Mercier

Dated January 19, 2023

BETWEEN THE NORTH VANCOUVER BOARD OF EDUCATION AND CUPE LOCAL 389

IN THE MATTER OF UNUSED LOCAL BARGAINING FUNDS

The parties agree to negotiate the allocation of all remaining or unused local bargaining funds at the end of each school year. These negotiations shall be completed by October 31 of the following school year. These allocations are subject to BCPSEA approval.

Original Copy Signed	Original Copy Signed
For the Board	For CUPE
Xenia O'Brien	Yvette Mercier

Dated January 19, 2023

BETWEEN THE NORTH VANCOUVER BOARD OF EDUCATION AND CUPE LOCAL 389

IN THE MATTER OF STUDENT SUPPORT QUALIFICATION PREMIUMS

The parties agree that, for the term of the 2022-2025 Collective Agreement, qualification premiums, as outlined below, shall be paid to individuals in permanent positions classed as Education Assistant and student support positions.

The Level One Qualification Premium (QP1) shall be thirty-five (35) cents per hour. Employees are eligible for a maximum of one (1) Level One Qualification Premium, even if they possess more than one qualification that meets the eligibility requirements which require the employee holds additional relevant qualifications at a minimum diploma level that are over and above the Education Assistant Program qualifications that are cited in the Class Specification.

The Level Two Qualification Premium (QP2) shall be fifty (50) cents per hour for specific training only. Any permanent employee who has a minimum of 300 hours on a home team or Applied Behaviour Analysis (ABA) training through an outside intervention program and documented as provided from a professional consultant at the Master's degree level; or has successfully completed 30 hours of relevant training, resulting in a certificate of completion such as Popard ABA/ASD training will be eligible for QP2.

Employees claiming the Qualification Premium must submit to the Human Resources Department documentation to support the successful completion of training that will be approved by HR and Learning Services. Any claim for the Qualifications Premium will be effective the date the request with the required documentation is received by the Human Resources Department, providing the request is approved.

For 2022-2023 school year only, employees who were in permanent positions as of September 6, 2022 who submit documentation by April 1, 2023, retro pay will be granted to October 15, 2022. Employees, whose requests are approved, will be paid that premium for all hours worked.

Eligible employees may qualify for both premiums.

Original Copy Signed

For the Board
Xenia O'Brien
Dated January 19, 2023

Original Copy Signed

For CUPE
Yvette Mercier

BETWEEN THE NORTH VANCOUVER BOARD OF EDUCATION AND CUPE LOCAL 389

IN THE MATTER OF CUPE REPRESENTATION ON COMMITTEES

The parties agree that for committee where a CUPE representative is requested by the Superintendent or designate, the Board will compensate the employee at their regular rate of pay and Article 4.9 if applicable. The minimum number of representatives required will be compensated for attendance at each of the following committees:

- Emergency Preparedness (2 representatives)
- Inclusion (1 representatives)
- Joint Professional Development Committee (2 representatives)
- Policy Review Committee (2 representatives)
- OHS Committee (3 representatives)
- District Calendar (2 representatives)
- Safe and Healthy Schools (1 representatives)

Further changes to the list of committee may be made at the discretion of the Superintendent.

Original Copy Signed	Original Copy Signed	
For the Board	For CUPE	
Xenia O'Brien	Yvette Mercier	

Dated January 19, 2023

APPENDIX A

Provincial Framework Agreement ("Framework")

between

BC Public School Employers' Association ("BCPSEA")

and

The K-12 Presidents' Council and Support Staff Unions ("the Unions")

BCPSEA and the Unions ("the Parties") agree to recommend the following framework for inclusion in the collective agreements between local Support Staff Unions who are members of the K-12 Presidents' Council and Boards of Education.

1. Term

July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2025

2. Wages Increases

General wage increases as follows:

July 1, 2022: \$0.25 per hour wage increase plus an additional 3.24%

July 1, 2023: 5.5% and up to 1.25% COLA adjustment

July 1, 2024: 2.0% and up to 1.0% COLA adjustment

The COLA adjustments will be the annualized average of BC CPI over twelve months per paragraph 4 below

3. Wage Increase Retroactivity

- a. Employees employed on the date of ratification who were employed on July 1, 2022 shall receive retroactive payment of wage increases to July 1, 2022.
- b. Employees hired after July 1, 2022 who were employed on the date of ratification, shall have their retro-active pay increase pro-rated from their date of hire to the date of ratification.

c. Employees who retired between July 1, 2022 and the date of ratification, shall have their retro-active pay increase pro-rated from July 1, 2022 to date of retirement.

4. COLA Adjustment

The provincial parties agree that in determining the level of any Cost of Living Adjustments (COLAs) that will be paid out starting on the first pay period after July 1, 2023 and July 1, 2024, respectively, the "annualized average of BC CPI over twelve months" in paragraph 2 of the Provincial Framework Agreement means the Latest 12-month Average (Index) % Change reported by BC Stats in March for British Columbia for the twelve months starting at the beginning of March the preceding year and concluding at the end of the following February. The percentage change reported by BC Stats that will form the basis for determining any COLA increase is calculated to one decimal point. The Latest 12-month Average Index, as defined by BC Stats, is a 12-month moving average of the BC consumer price indexes of the most recent 12-months. This figure is calculated by averaging index levels over the applicable 12-months.

The Latest 12-month Average % Change is reported publicly by BC Stats in the monthly BC Stats Consumer Price Index Highlights report. The BC Stats Consumer Price Index Highlights report released in mid-March will contain the applicable figure for the 12-months concluding at the end of February.

For reference purposes only, the annualized average of BC CPI over twelve months from March 1, 2021 to February 28, 2022 was 3.4%.

5. Public Sector Wage Increases

1. If a public sector employer, as defined in s. 1 of the *Public Sector Employers Act*, enters into a collective agreement with an effective date after December 31, 2021 and the first three years of the collective agreement under the Shared Recovery Mandate includes cumulative nominal (not compounded) general wage increases (GWIs) and Cost of Living Adjustments (COLAs) that, in accordance with how GWIs are defined and calculated in this LOA, are paid out and exceed the sum of the GWIs and COLAs that are paid out in the K-12 Provincial Framework Agreement, the total GWIs and COLAs paid out will be adjusted on the third anniversary of the collective agreement so that the cumulative nominal (not compounded) GWIs and COLAs are equivalent. This paragraph 5 is not triggered by any wage increase or lump sum awarded as a result of binding interest arbitration.

- 2. For the purposes of calculating the general wage increases in paragraph 1:
 - a) a \$0.25 per hour flat-rate wage increase for employees with their hourly wage rates set out in the collective agreement; or
 - b) any alternative flat-rate wage increase for employees whose hourly wage rates are not set out in the collective agreement that is determined by the Public Sector Employers' Council Secretariat to be roughly equivalent to a \$0.25 per hour flat-rate wage increase;

shall be considered to be a 0.5% general wage increase, notwithstanding what it actually represents for the average bargaining unit member covered by the collective agreement. For clarity, under paragraph 2 a), the combined GWIs of \$0.25 per hour and 3.24% in Year 1 are considered to be a single increase of 3.74% for this LOA. For example purposes only, combining the 3.74% increase (as it is considered in this LOA) in Year 1 with the maximum potential combined GWI and COLA increases of 6.75% in Year 2 and 3% in Year 3 would result in a cumulative nominal increases of 13.49% over three years.

- 3. For certainty, a general wage increase is one that applies to all members of a bargaining unit (e.g. everyone receives an additional \$0.25 per hour, \$400 per year, or 1% increase) and does not include wage comparability adjustments, lower wage redress adjustments, labour market adjustments, flexibility allocations, classification system changes, or any compensation increases that are funded by equivalent collective agreement savings or grievance resolutions that are agreed to in bargaining.
- 4. A general wage increase and its magnitude in any agreement is as confirmed by the Public Sector Employers' Council Secretariat.
- 5. This paragraph 5 will be effective during the term of the K-12 Provincial Framework Agreement.

6. Local Table Bargaining Money

Provide ongoing funding to the support staff local tables in the amount of:

Year	Amount	District Minimum
2022/2023	\$11,500,000	\$40,000
2023/2024	\$13,800,000	\$50,000
2024/2025	\$17,800,000	\$60,000

This money will be prorated according to student FTE providing that each district receives the district minimum amount.

The district and local must reach agreement on its use and implementation as part of their local discussions. The money may not be used for a general wage increase.

7. Provincial Labour Management Committee

The parties agree to maintain a Provincial Labour Management Committee (PLMC) to discuss and problem solve issues of mutual provincial interest, including issues referred from provincial committees established under this Framework Agreement. The purpose of the committee is to promote the cooperative resolution of workplace issues, to respond and adapt to changes in the economy, to foster the development of work-related skills and to promote workplace productivity.

The PLMC shall not discuss local grievances or have the power to bind local parties to any decision or conclusion. This committee will not replace the existing local grievance/arbitration processes.

The parties agree that the PLMC will consist of up to four (4) representatives appointed by BCPSEA and up to four (4) representatives appointed by the Support Staff Unions. Either provincial party may bring resource people as required, with advanced notice to the other party and at no added cost to the committee.

The PLMC will meet quarterly or as mutually agreed to for the life of the 2022 Framework Agreement and agree to include Workplace Health and Safety as a standing agenda item.

8. Support Staff Education Committee (SSEC)

Structure:

The committee shall comprise of not more than five (5) members appointed by CUPE and five (5) members appointed by BCPSEA. One of the CUPE appointees will be from the Non-CUPE Unions.

Either Party may bring resource people as required, with advanced notice to the other party. These resource people will be non-voting and at no added cost to the committee.

Mandate:

The mandate of the committee is to manage the distribution of education funds for the following:

- a) Implementation of best practices to integrate skill development for support staff employees with district goals and student needs;
- b) Developing and delivering education opportunities to enhance service delivery to students;

- c) Identifying, developing and delivering education opportunities to enhance and support employee health and safety, including non-violent crisis intervention;
- d) Enable the provision of education opportunities to enhance and support the understanding, recognition and reconciliation process with Indigenous Peoples;
- e) Enable the provision of education opportunities to enhance and support equity, diversity, and inclusion as well as cultural safety;
- f) Skills enhancement for support staff;
- g) EA curriculum module development and delivery;
- h) These funds shall not be used to pay for education that Districts are required to provide under Occupational Health and Safety Regulations.

Terms of Reference:

The SSEC shall update, not later than January 31, 2023, the terms of reference for the committee. If no such agreement can be reached the SSEC shall make recommendations to the Provincial Labour Management Committee (PLMC).

Funding:

Commencing July 1, 2022, there will be \$50,000 of annual funding allocated for the purposes set out above. Commencing July 1, 2024, there will be an additional \$1,000,000 of annual funding allocated for the purposes set out above.

9. Safety in the Workplace

The parties agree that prevention of violence in the workplace is of paramount importance. The parties commit to providing a healthy and safe working environment that includes procedures to minimize the risk of workplace violence, such as Individual Safe Work Instructions or equivalent and the obligation to report and investigate incidents of workplace violence.

10. Provincial Joint Health and Safety Taskforce

The provincial parties will establish a Provincial Joint Health and Safety Taskforce of not more than four (4) members appointed by CUPE and four (4) members appointed by BCPSEA. Each provincial party will consider the appointment of subject matter experts in occupational health and safety. Either provincial party may bring resource people as required, with advance notice to the other party. These resource people will be non-voting and at no cost to the taskforce. Costs associated with this Taskforce will be provided from existing SSEAC funds.

The Provincial Joint Health and Safety Taskforce will:

- a) develop Terms of Reference to support training on the 2021 Workplace Violence Prevention Toolkit and the joint health and Safety Evaluation Tool;
- b) support the Support Staff Education Committee (SSEC) in the development of training related to the 2021 Workplace Violence Prevention Toolkit;
- c) provide a joint communication on the availability of training related to the 2021 Workplace Violence Prevention Toolkit for all Occupational Health and Safety Committees;
- d) review and update as required the Joint Health and Safety Evaluation Tool resulting from the 2019-2022 Provincial Framework Agreement;
- e) provide the reviewed Joint Health and Safety Evaluation Tool to each school district and local union;
- f) Identify and share best practices for the development of Individual Safe Work Instructions or equivalent.

11. Job Evaluation

The work of the provincial job evaluation steering committee (the JE Committee) will continue during the term of this Framework Agreement. The objectives of the JE Committee are as follows:

- Review the results of the phase one and phase two pilots and outcomes of the committee work. Address any anomalies identified with the JE tool, process, or benchmarks.
- Rate the provincial benchmarks and create a job hierarchy for the provincial benchmarks.
- Gather data from all school districts and match existing job descriptions to the provincial benchmarks.
- Identify the job hierarchy for local job descriptions for all school districts.
- Compare the local job hierarchy to the benchmark-matched hierarchy.
- Develop a methodology to convert points to pay bands The confirmed method must be supported by current compensation best practices.
- Identify training requirements to support implementation of the JE plan and develop training resources as required.

Once the objectives outlined above are completed, the JE Committee will mutually determine whether a local, regional or provincial approach to the steps outlined above is appropriate.

It is recognized that the work of the committee is technical, complicated, lengthy and onerous. To accomplish the objectives, the parties agree that existing JE funds can be accessed by the JE committee to engage consultant(s) to complete this work.

It is further recognized that this process does not impact the established management right of employers to determine local job requirements and job descriptions nor does this process alter any existing collective agreement rights or established practices.

When the JE plan is ready to be implemented, and if an amendment to an existing collective agreement is required, the JE Committee will work with the local School District and Local Union to make recommendations for implementation. Any recommendations will also be provided to the Provincial Labour Management Committee (PLMC).

As mutually agreed by the provincial parties and the JE Committee, the disbursement of available JE funds shall be retroactive to January 2, 2020-

The committee will utilize available funds to provide 50% of the wage differential for the position falling the furthest below the wage rate established by the provincial JE process and will continue this process until all JE fund monies at the time have been disbursed. The committee will follow compensation best practices to avoid problems such as inversion.

The committee will report out to the provincial parties regularly during the term of the Framework Agreement. Should any concerns arise during the work of the committee they will be referred to the PLMC.

Create a maintenance program to support ongoing implementation of the JE plan at a local, regional or provincial level. The maintenance program will include a process for addressing the wage rates of incumbents in positions which are impacted by implementation of the JE plan.

The provincial parties confirm that \$4,419,859 of ongoing annual funds will be used to implement the Job Evaluation Plan.

Effective July 1, 2022, there will be a one-time pause of the annual \$4,419,859 JE funding. This amount has been allocated to the local table bargaining money. The annual funding will recommence July 1, 2023.

12. Committee Funding

There will be a total of \$150,000 of annual funding allocated for the purposes of the Support Staff Education Committee, the Provincial Labour Management Committee and the Provincial Joint Health and Safety Committee.

13. Public Education Benefits Trust

- a. PEBT Annual Funding Date: The established ongoing annual funding payment of \$19,428,240 provided by the Ministry of Education will continue to be made each April 1. This payment shall be made each April 1 of the calendar year to provide LTD and JEIS benefits in accordance with the Settlors Statement on Accepted and Policy Practices of the PEBT.
- b. The Parties agree that decisions of the Public Education Benefits Trust medical appeal panel are final and binding. The Parties further agree that administrative review processes and the medical appeal panel will not be subject to the grievance procedure in each collective agreement.
- c. Sick leave and JEIS eligibility for sick leave or indemnity payments requires participation in the Joint Early Intervention Service (JEIS) according to the JEIS policies of the PEBT.

14. Benefits

a. Effective July 1, 2023, provide \$3 million dollars as ongoing annual funding to explore enhancements to the Standardized Extended Health Plan, including dental coverage, counselling and other improvements to benefits.

A one-time joint committee of up to four representatives appointed by BCPSEA and up to four representatives appointed by support staff unions will determine the enhancements to be implemented.

Any residual from the benefits standardization will be allocated to the Job Evaluation Fund.

b. Effective July 1, 2023, provide \$1,000,000 one-time money to the PEBT to be utilized for addiction treatment support programs. The PEBT will determine appropriate terms of use for accessing the funds, which will include, but not be limited to: priority access for support staff employees (vs. School Districts), treatment cost considerations, and relapse response.

15. Production of Local Collective Agreements

BCPSEA commits to providing a draft 2022 local collective agreement which includes all negotiated updates, within 30 days of ratification by the local parties. The draft collective agreement will be provided in editable format with changes tracked for the local parties to review.

16. Demographic, Classification and Wage Information

BCPSEA agrees to coordinate the accumulation and distribution of demographic, classification and wage data, as specified in the Letter of Understanding dated December 14, 2011, to CUPE on behalf of Boards of Education. The data currently housed in the Employment Data and Analysis Systems (EDAS) will be the source of the requested information.

17. Unpaid Work

In accordance with the *Employment Standards Act*, no employee shall be required or permitted to perform unpaid hours of work.

18. Education Assistant Credential Standardization

Should the Ministry of Education initiate discussions regarding standardized credentials for Education Assistants, the provincial parties will each send a letter to request participation in the process.

19. Provincial Framework Bargaining 2025

The Parties agree to amend and renew the December 14, 2011 Letter of Understanding for dedicated funding to the K-12 Presidents Council to facilitate the next round of provincial bargaining. \$250,000 will be allocated as of July 1, 2023.

20. Provincial Dispute resolution

The provincial parties may mutually agree to refer a dispute under Provincial Framework Agreement to final and binding arbitration.

21. Funding

Funding for the Provincial Framework Agreement will be included in operating grants to Boards of Education.

22. Employee Support Grant

The Parties agree to the principle that Support Staff union members who have lost wages as a result of not crossing lawful picket lines during full days of a BCTF strike/BCPSEA lockout will be compensated in accordance with the letter of agreement in Appendix A.

23. Adoption of the Provincial Framework Agreement

The rights and obligations of the local parties under this Provincial Framework Agreement are of no force or effect unless the collective agreement has been ratified by both parties no later than January 25, 2023, or a later date as established by the provincial parties if the local parties are engaged in mediation.

Dated this 15th day of September, 2022.

The undersigned bargaining representatives agree to recommend this letter of understanding to their respective principals.

K-12 Presidents' Council and Support Staff Unions

BC Public School Employers' Association

"Paul Simpson"	"Leanne Bowes"
"Justin Schmid"	"Bruce Anderson"
"Kristen Daub"	"Alan Chell"
"Jeff Virtanen"	"Kyle Uno"
"Gray Boisvert"	"Tammy Sowinsky"
"Tammy Carter"	"Rae Yu"
"Michelle Bennett"	"Richard Per"
"Patti Pocha"	"Ken Dawson"
"Denise Bullock"	"Nancy Brennan"
"David Bollen"	"Eric Harvey"
"Monica Brady"	"Alex Douce"
"Warren Williams"	
"Tim DeVivo"	
"Jane Massey"	

"Amber Leonard"	
"Jason Franklin"	
"Christina Forsyth"	
"Tammy Murphy"	
"Jeannette Beauvillier"	
"Daun Frederickson"	
"Tracy O'Hara"	
"Katarina DiSimo"	

Provincial Framework Agreement – Appendix A

Letter of Agreement ("Letter")

Between:

BC Public School Employers Association ("BCPSEA")

And:

The CUPE K - 12 Presidents' Council and Support Staff Unions ("the Unions")

Re: Employee Support Grant (ESG) after June 30, 2022

This Employee Support Grant (ESG) establishes a process under which employees covered by 2022 – 2025 collective agreements between Boards of Education and the Unions shall be entitled to recover wages lost as a result of legal strike activity by the BC Teachers' Federation ("BCTF") or lockout by BCPSEA after June 30, 2022.

- 1. The ESG will be available provided that:
 - a. A board and local union have a collective agreement which has been ratified by both parties no later than January 25, 2023 and,
 - b. There has been no successful strike vote by the BCTF or local support staff union prior to local union ratification.
- 2. Employees are expected to attend their worksite if there is no lawful BCTF picket line.
- 3. Employees who have lost wages as a result of not crossing lawful picket lines during full days of a BCTF strike/BCPSEA lockout shall be compensated. This compensation shall be in accordance with the following:
 - a. In the event that employees are prevented from attending work due to a lawful picket line, employees will be paid for all scheduled hours that the employee would have otherwise worked but for the labour dispute. Their pay will be 75% of their base wage rate.
 - b. The residual 25% of the employees' base wage rate will be placed in a district fund to provide professional development to support staff employees. Funds will be dispersed by the district following agreement between the district and the local union.
- 4. Within forty-five (45) days of the conclusion of the labour dispute between BCPSEA and the BCTF, boards will reimburse each employee for all scheduled hours for which the employee has not otherwise been paid as a result of strike or lockout.

- 5. If the employee disputes a payment received from the board, the union may submit the dispute with particulars on the employee's behalf to a committee comprised of an equal number of representatives appointed by BCPSEA and the Unions.
- 6. If the joint committee is unable to resolve the employee's claim it will submit the dispute to a mutually agreed upon arbitrator who must resolve the dispute within ten (10) days of hearing the differences between the board and the union.

Original signed on 15th September, 2022 by:				
BCPSEA Leanne Bowes	K-12 Presidents' Council Paul Simpson			

INDEX

A	Н
Additional Work during Spring, Summer or Winter Breaks20	Hand Tools56
Adoption Leave48	Harassment63
ARBITRATION57	HOURS5
В	Hours of Work5
В	I
BENEFITS33	
Bumping Rights and Procedures28	Indemnification 66
Business Insurance55	Individual Education Plans68
С	J
Coll cuts	Lab Charian
Call-outs 14 Call-Outs and Standby 14	Job Sharing
Citizenship Leave50	701 y Daty44
CLASSIFICATION AND PAY10	
Compassionate Leave43	L
Contracting60	Layoff26, 27
	Leaves of Absence for Official Union Representatives 48
D	Long Term Disability (LTD)43
	Lunch and Rest Periods - Support Staff8
5 (1.11) (5 1	
Definitions of Employees	
Dental Plan51	М
• •	
Dental Plan51 Driver Differential17	Management Rights
Dental Plan	Management Rights
Dental Plan .51 Driver Differential .17 Duration of Agreement .2 Duty to Accommodate .63 E Education Assistant Consultation .68	Management Rights
Dental Plan .51 Driver Differential .17 Duration of Agreement .2 Duty to Accommodate .63 E Education Assistant Consultation .68 Education Leave .44	Management Rights
Dental Plan .51 Driver Differential .17 Duration of Agreement .2 Duty to Accommodate .63 E E Education Assistant Consultation .68 Education Leave .44 Employees with Disabilities .62	Management Rights
Dental Plan .51 Driver Differential .17 Duration of Agreement .2 Duty to Accommodate .63 E E Education Assistant Consultation .68 Education Leave .44 Employees with Disabilities .62	Management Rights
Dental Plan .51 Driver Differential .17 Duration of Agreement .2 Duty to Accommodate .63 E Education Assistant Consultation .68 Education Leave .44 Employees with Disabilities .62 Employment Insurance .55	Management Rights
Dental Plan .51 Driver Differential .17 Duration of Agreement .2 Duty to Accommodate .63 E E Education Assistant Consultation .68 Education Leave .44 Employees with Disabilities .62	Management Rights 3 Meal Breaks and Allowances during Overtime and Call-Out 15 Meal Times and Rest Periods 8 Medical Certificates 42 Medical Procedures 69 Minimum Hours 7 Municipal Pension Plan 53 N No Discrimination 62
Dental Plan .51 Driver Differential .17 Duration of Agreement .2 Duty to Accommodate .63 E .63 Education Assistant Consultation .68 Education Leave .44 Employees with Disabilities .62 Employment Insurance .55 F Family Leave .43	Management Rights
Dental Plan .51 Driver Differential .17 Duration of Agreement .2 Duty to Accommodate .63 E .63 Education Assistant Consultation .68 Education Leave .44 Employees with Disabilities .62 Employment Insurance .55 Family Leave .43 Field Trips .66	Management Rights 3 Meal Breaks and Allowances during Overtime and Call-Out 15 Meal Times and Rest Periods 8 Medical Certificates 42 Medical Procedures 69 Minimum Hours 7 Municipal Pension Plan 53 N No Discrimination 62
Dental Plan .51 Driver Differential .17 Duration of Agreement .2 Duty to Accommodate .63 E .63 Education Assistant Consultation .68 Education Leave .44 Employees with Disabilities .62 Employment Insurance .55 Family Leave .43 Field Trips .66	Management Rights 3 Meal Breaks and Allowances during Overtime and Call-Out 15 Meal Times and Rest Periods 8 Medical Certificates 42 Medical Procedures 69 Minimum Hours 7 Municipal Pension Plan 53 N No Discrimination 62
Dental Plan .51 Driver Differential .17 Duration of Agreement .2 Duty to Accommodate .63 E .63 Education Assistant Consultation .68 Education Leave .44 Employees with Disabilities .62 Employment Insurance .55 F .55 Family Leave .43 Field Trips .66 First Aid .16 G .57	Management Rights 3 Meal Breaks and Allowances during Overtime and Call-Out 15 Meal Times and Rest Periods 8 Medical Certificates 42 Medical Procedures 69 Minimum Hours 7 Municipal Pension Plan 53 N No Discrimination 62 O Occupational Health and Safety 64 Overtime 13
Dental Plan .51 Driver Differential .17 Duration of Agreement .2 Duty to Accommodate .63 E .63 Education Assistant Consultation .68 Education Leave .44 Employees with Disabilities .62 Employment Insurance .55 Family Leave .43 Field Trips .66 First Aid .16	Management Rights

Percentage of Full Time54	Sick Leave	42
Personal Leave50	Social Insurance Numbers	67
Picketing61	Staffing Reorganization and Procedures	26
Posting19	Staffing Reorganization, Layoff, Bumping and Recall	25
Pregnancy and Parental Leave44	Standby	
PREMIUM CONTRIBUTIONS36	Statutory Holidays	
Professional Development68	<u>Subrogation</u>	
Promoted out of the Bargaining Unit30	Summer Hours	
Protective Clothing66	Summer Postings and Procedures	21
Provincial Framework Agreement	Supplementary Vacations	
"Framework" 71, 102, 103, 104, 107, 110, 111, 113	,	
Public Education Benefits Trust (PEBT)55		
,	Т	
R	TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	59
	Termination	32
Recall Rights and Procedures29	Trades Premium	
Records31	Trial Period	12
Retirement53		
Retirement Service Pay53		
RRSP55	Ü	
	Union Membership	3
S	UNION RECOGNITION	
Same Sex Benefit Coverage51		
SCHEDULE "F"	V	
SCHEDULE "A"	<u>'</u>	
SCHEDULE "B"76	Vacations	38
SCHEDULE "C"79	Vehicle Allowance	55
SCHEDULE "D"	Violence	69
SCHEDULE "E"82	Volunteers	33
SCHEDULES71		
School Support Staff61	YAZ	
Seniority24, 30	W	
Service Recognition Pay53	Washand Communities	
Shift Premiums	Workers' Compensation	
Shifts5	Wrongful Dismissal	55
JIII G		